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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Polymetal International plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements
1. Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements of Polymetal International plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’): 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2021 and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended; 
• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB); and
• have been properly prepared in accordance with Companies (Jersey) Law, 1991.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

• the Consolidated income statement;
• the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income;
• the Consolidated balance sheet;
• the Consolidated statement of cash flows;
• the Consolidated statement of changes in equity; and
• the related notes 1 to 34.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law, United Kingdom adopted international 
accounting standards and IFRSs as issued by the IASB.

2. Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The non-audit services provided to the Group for the year are 
disclosed in note 13 of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

3. Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters The key audit matters that we identified in the current year, all of which were newly identified, were:

• the impacts of international sanctions on Russia for the going concern assessment; 
• a change in the Group’s Exploration and Evaluation (“E&E”) accounting policy; and
• the Nezhda and Prognoz cash generating unit (“CGU”) determination and impairment assessment. 

Materiality The materiality that we used for the Group financial statements in the current year was US$47 million 
(2020: US$47 million) which was determined on the basis of profit before tax adjusted for net foreign 
exchange gains of US$5 million (2020: US$23 million gain) and the net gain on disposal of subsidiaries 
of US$3 million (2020: US$13 million gain).

Scoping Our scoping identified 13 components:
• Dukat, Omolon, Albazino and Kyzyl were subject to a full scope audit; and
• specified account balances were audited at Svetloye, Voro, Varvara, Amursk, Mayskoye, Nezhda, 

Prognoz, Kutyn and the Corporate component.

This scoping represents a change from our 2020 audit with Kutyn now being subject to audit of 
specified account balances. Kutyn was a development asset in 2020 and consequently was not within 
the scope of a component audit. Our coverage and scoping assessment are discussed further in 
section 7 below.

A number of balances across all components were tested centrally, as the business activities, processes 
and controls related to these balances are centralised at the Group’s head office.

Significant changes 
in our approach

The audit risks associated with (i) the impacts of international sanctions on Russia for the going concern 
assessment; (ii) a change in the Group’s E&E accounting policy; and (iii) the Nezhda and Prognoz CGU 
determination and impairment assessment were identified as new key audit matters in 2021. This was 
due to their complexity, the quantum of the related account balances impacted, the level of judgement 
involved and the level of involvement from senior members of the audit team. See the key audit matters 
description below for further information.

The prior year key audit matters associated with accounting for the acquisition of the non-controlling 
interest in Veduga; accounting for the acquisition of the Nezhda power line lease; and completeness of 
related party relationships in significant corporate transactions are no longer considered to be key audit 
matters for the 2021 audit given they were 2020 transactions. There were no significant complex 
corporate transactions in 2021.

4. Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation 
of the financial statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting is included 
in section 5.1. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually 
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from 
when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In relation to the reporting on how the Group has applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material to add or draw 
attention to in relation to the directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether the directors considered it appropriate to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of 
this report.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Polymetal International plc 
continued

5. Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements 
of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we 
identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the 
audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

5.1. The impacts of international sanctions on Russia for the going concern assessment

Key audit matter description The situation in Ukraine led to additional sanctions being imposed on certain Russian institutions and 
individuals by the US, the UK and the EU subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2021.

As described in the going concern section of note 1 of the financial statements on page 202, 
management has assessed the going concern related impacts on the Group of the currently imposed 
sanctions, and possible further new sanctions. The latest sanctions situation is currently fast-moving 
and management’s base case assessment reflects the Group’s ‘best estimate’ as to how the sanctions 
may ultimately impact the Group based on all relevant information currently known.

The going concern assessment required a high level of management judgement and is complex, 
particularly in analysing the potential impact of sanctions upon the Group’s forecast metal sales 
channels to certain customers; liquidity management including available cash, borrowings and covenant 
requirements from financial institutions; and its ability to continue mining operations in light of mining 
equipment supply and logistics uncertainties. The Group engaged an external legal firm to provide 
further advice in relation to the recent sanctions and potential impact for the Group.

Management has prepared a series of ‘severe downside’ sanctions scenarios, which assume 
reasonably possible adverse outcomes for the items described above such as the potential for further 
sanctions and Russian counter-sanctions. In evaluating the impact of these downside scenarios, 
management has identified reasonable mitigating actions the Group could take, which include reducing 
production volumes and mining costs, negotiating new sales channels, deferring and/or reducing the 
Group’s capital expenditure and shareholder dividends and drawing down further on undrawn 
committed facilities.

The Board is satisfied that the Group’s analysis, including the severe sanctions downside scenarios 
above, supports that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of preparation.

For further details, refer to the Audit and Risk Committee’s report on page 151 and other areas of the 
Annual Report (including the Chairman’s statement on page 8, the CEO’s statement on 10, Principal 
risks on page 118 and longer-term viability statement on page 183).

How the scope of our audit 
responded to the key audit 
matter

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting, having considered the impact of recently announced sanctions, included:

• challenging management’s assessment of the potential risks and uncertainties relevant to the Group 
as a result of the additional sanctions imposed subsequent to the balance sheet date;

• evaluating the external legal advice received by the Directors addressing the impact of recent US, UK 
and EU Sanctions on the global operations of the Group;

• assessing for reasonableness the assumptions applied in the going concern period cash flow 
forecast through evaluating the potential impact of the sanctions on the cash and facilities available 
to the group, including the location of the cash and facilities available, ability to transfer funds 
between the jurisdictions in which the group operates, the repayment terms and covenants and the 
ability to draw down further on the existing facilities;

• challenging whether the Group’s mitigating actions are reasonable and within the Group’s control;
• independently preparing a series of ‘severe downside’ sanctions related scenarios, as well as 

assessing management’s downside scenarios and sensitivity analysis;
• testing the clerical accuracy and appropriateness of the model used to prepare the forecasts; and
• assessing the Group’s going concern related financial statement disclosures.

Key observations We consider that despite the uncertainties in relation to the impact on the Group of currently announced 
and potential future sanctions, the assumptions made by management in their forecasts and stress tests 
are reasonable. Based on the forecast liquidity headroom in the base case and downside sensitivities 
(after the application of mitigating actions) we concur that the directors’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate and that there are no material 
uncertainties related to going concern.

5.2. A change in the Group’s E&E accounting policy 

Key audit matter description As described in notes 1 and 32 of the financial statements on pages 202 and 243 respectively, and as 
discussed in the Audit and Risk Committee’s report on page 148, during 2021 management changed 
the Group’s accounting policy for the capitalisation of E&E costs under IFRS 6 Exploration for and 
Evaluation of Mineral Resources (“IFRS 6”). US$74 million of E&E costs were capitalised as exploration 
assets as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: US$62 million, restated).

Commencing 1 January 2021, E&E costs are expensed as incurred until such time as the Group 
determines that reasonable prospects exist for the eventual economic extraction of minerals, which is 
evidenced by management’s decision to prepare a mineral resource estimation for the relevant field.

Previously, the Group capitalised relevant costs to E&E assets if management concluded that future 
economic benefits were likely to be realised based on an internal assessment of exploration results and 
potential mineral resources. E&E capitalised costs were subsequently written off if there was an IFRS 6 
impairment indicator present.

The change to the Group’s E&E accounting policy required a high level of management judgement and 
is material and complex, particularly in determining the following items that our key audit matter 
focussed on:

• whether this decision represented a change in accounting policy or a change in accounting estimate;
• if the former, whether the policy change and the new policy meets the relevant requirements of IAS 8 

Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and IFRS 6; and
• whether the required adjustments and disclosures in the financial statements in respect of prior 

periods are accurate and complete. 

How the scope of our audit 
responded to the key audit 
matter

• we obtained an understanding of the relevant controls over the change in the Group’s E&E 
accounting policy;

• we assessed whether management’s judgement that this represents a change in accounting policy, 
rather than a change in estimate, under the requirements of IFRS was reasonable; 

• we assessed whether the Group’s new accounting policy for E&E costs is acceptable under the 
requirements of IFRS 6, including via relevant peer benchmarking; and whether the E&E costs 
incurred in 2021 were appropriately accounted for under the new policy; 

• we tested, via recalculation, that the retrospective adjustments for the change in accounting policy 
disclosed as part of the restatements as at 1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020 were complete 
and accurate to the extent practicable, as required by IAS 8; and 

• we assessed the Group’s financial statement disclosures, including the description of the change in 
accounting policy and the restatements, for reasonableness under the relevant IFRS requirements.

Key observations Based on our audit work, we are satisfied that the change in the Group’s E&E accounting policy and the 
related disclosures, including relevant restatements, are reasonable. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Polymetal International plc 
continued

5.3. The Nezhda and Prognoz CGU determination and impairment assessment 

Key audit matter description As described in note 3 of the financial statements on page 215, and as discussed in the Audit and Risk 
Committee’s report on page 148, management judges that the revised mine plans approved in 2021, 
whereby Prognoz will utilise a portion of Nezhda’s existing ore concentrator, creates interdependence 
between the two mines. Management has therefore reassessed the relevant CGU determinations and 
judges that Nezhda and Prognoz are one combined CGU (formerly two separate CGUs), which had a 
carrying value of US$ 944 million as at 31 December 2021. 

The revision to the CGU determination required a high level of management judgement and is material 
and complex, particularly in determining the following items that our key audit matter focussed on:

• whether Nezhda and Prognoz are able to generate cash inflows largely independently, or are now 
interdependent (such that the lowest level of identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of 
other assets would be Nezhda and Prognoz on a combined basis) given they both plan to utilise the 
same ore concentrator located at Nezhda, despite the geographical distance between the two mines; 

• if there is an active market, or not, for Prognoz’s silver ore before it is processed at Nezhda’s 
concentrator and sold to third parties, and if the CGU determination is consistent with the Group’s 
internal management reporting; and

• whether impairment charges are required or not for Nezhda and/or Prognoz in 2021, and whether 
the revision in CGUs impacts this impairment assessment. 

How the scope of our audit 
responded to the key audit 
matter

• we obtained an understanding of the relevant controls over the revision of the CGU determination 
and the impairment assessment under IAS 36; 

• we obtained an understanding of the commercial rationale and management’s intentions that are 
reflected in the business plan revisions in 2021, which resulted in management reassessing the 
Nezhda and Prognoz CGU determination; 

• we challenged management’s accounting analysis for the newly combined CGU determination 
against the requirements of IAS 36, which assesses the interdependence of Nezhda’s and Prognoz’s 
future cash inflows and whether there is an active market for Prognoz’s silver ore. We also 
considered contradictory audit evidence; 

• we challenged management’s impairment assessment methodology and key input assumptions, 
including: commodity price forecasts, the discount rate applied, the production profile (with input 
from our technical mining specialists), and the capital and operating costs (including the cost of 
transporting ore from Prognoz to Nezhda), by developing independent reasonable ranges and 
assessing third party support where relevant; and

• we assessed the Group’s financial statement disclosures to determine if they were reasonable under 
the relevant IFRS requirements. 

Key observations Based on our audit work, we are satisfied that the Nezhda and Prognoz CGU determination and 
impairment assessment, and the related disclosures, are reasonable. 

6. Our application of materiality
6.1. Materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions of 
a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work 
and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group materiality US$47 million (2020: US$47 million)

Basis for determining 
materiality

We used adjusted profit before tax as the key benchmark. This approach is consistent with our 2020 
audit and the determined materiality represents 4.0% of adjusted profit before tax (2020: 3.4%). The 
relatively higher percentage of adjusted profit before tax applied to determine materiality in 2021, 
compared to 2020, reflects that the Group’s 2020 actual results were higher than was assumed at the 
planning stage of our 2020 audit, but 2020 audit materiality was held at US$47 million, partly to reflect 
an overall increased level of uncertainty due to Covid-19 that was less relevant in 2021. 

Rationale for the 
benchmark applied

The use of this metric is consistent with our 2020 audit and has been determined on the basis that 
adjusted profit before tax is a key benchmark for management and investors to appraise the Group’s 
performance.

Profit before tax has been adjusted to remove non-underlying net foreign exchange gains of 
US$5 million (2020: US$23 million gain) and the net gain on disposal of subsidiaries of US$3 million 
(2020: US$13 million net gain).

 

Adjusted PBT Group materiality

Component materiality range 
US$16.45m to $23.0m

Audit and Risk Committee reporting threshold 
US$2.35m

Group materiality 
US$47m

Adjusted Profit Before Tax
US$1,164m

Adjusted profit before tax

6.2. Performance materiality
We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected and undetected 
misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole. 

Group performance materiality was set at 70% of Group materiality for the 2021 audit (2020: 60%). In determining performance 
materiality, we considered the following factors:

a. Our risk assessment, including our assessment of the Group’s overall control environment; 
b. The consistent organisational structure of the Group relative to the prior year audit;
c. In the prior year we observed a lower level of misstatements, both corrected and uncorrected (leading to the higher level of the 

performance materiality determined in the current year compared to previous years);
d. The degree of centralisation and common processes and controls; and
e. The limited changes in the business that impacted our anticipation of potential misstatements. 

6.3. Error reporting threshold
We agreed with the Audit and Risk Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of US$2.35 million 
(2020: US$2.30 million), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. We also 
report to the Audit and Risk Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Polymetal International plc 
continued

7. An overview of the scope of our audit
7.1. Scoping
The Group holds various mining assets in Russia and Kazakhstan. Our scoping identified 13 components (Dukat, Omolon, Albazino, 
Kyzyl, Svetloye, Voro, Varvara, Amursk, Mayskoye, Nezhda, Prognoz, Kutyn and a single Corporate component comprising of the support 
function corporate entities).

Our 2021 scoping followed the same approach as in 2020 where the audit team performed central testing over a number of the Group’s 
standardised processes and controls. For these balances that were tested centrally, we have performed substantive audit procedures 
across all components.

We determined the scope of the audit procedures to be performed at each component on the balances not tested centrally. We have 
performed full scope audits at Dukat, Omolon, Albazino and Kyzyl. Focused procedures were performed at Svetloye, Voro, Varvara, Amursk, 
Mayskoye, Nezhda, Prognoz, Kutyn and the Corporate component for specified account balances. This represents a change from our 2020 
scoping with Kutyn being subject to audit of specified account balances, whereas Kutyn was a development asset in 2020 and 
consequently was not within the scope of a component audit.

Our audit work was executed at levels of materiality applicable to each individual component, which were between US$16.4 million and 
US$23.0 million (2020: US$14.1 million and US$19.7 million). Our audit scoping coverage for key balances is summarised in the charts 
below.

Tested on a combined Group basis

Revenue
%

100

Full audit scope Specified audit procedures
Desktop review

Profit�before tax
%

88

2

10

Full audit scope

Property, plant and equipment 
%

1

28

71

Specified audit procedures
Desktop review

7.2. Our consideration of the control environment
We evaluated the design and implementation of the internal controls which are relevant to our audit. We also tested operating 
effectiveness and placed reliance on certain controls over metal inventories and revenue. The approach remains broadly consistent with 
previous years. We worked with our IT specialists to test general IT controls and these were found to be operating effectively. 

7.3. Our consideration of climate-related risks 
In planning our audit, we considered the potential impacts of climate change on the Group’s business and its financial statements. We 
reviewed and challenged management’s climate-related risk assessment and held discussions with management to understand the Group’s 
process for identifying climate-related risks, the determination of mitigating actions and the impact on the Group’s financial statements.

The Group does not mine or extract hydrocarbons such as coal, natural gas or oil but it does emit greenhouse gases directly from, for 
example, energy used in its mining operations, the processing of metals and minerals, and the transportation of its products. Further 
information is provided in the Strategic Report on pages 66 to 81 and the Group’s Climate Change report on pages 24 to 32. Climate 
change impacts the long-term outlook of aspects of the mining industry, especially given greenhouse gas intensity in the use of certain of 
the industry’s products (measured under Scope 3 emissions). Whilst the Group has set out its climate change targets, we understand the 
consequences, in terms of investment, its cost base and impact on cash flows are being continually assessed and incorporated into the 
Group’s decision making.

We designed our audit procedures to specifically consider those assets whose values are determined through modelling future cash 
flows, which is where we and the Group consider the highest potential climate change impact to be. Most notably, we audited how the 
group considered climate impacts on the cash flows that support the carrying amount of CGUs, including both longer term physical risks 
such as thawing permafrost and shorter-term transitional risks such as the introduction of carbon taxes. We also challenged how the 
Directors considered climate change in their assessment of viability, particularly given the Group’s increasing portfolio of sustainability-
linked loans. We have involved Environmental, Social and Governance specialists in our review of the Group’s disclosures of climate-
related information in the annual report and financial statements, and considered whether they are materially consistent with the financial 
statements and our knowledge obtained in the audit. 

7.4. Working with other auditors
The group audit team was in active dialogue throughout all stages of the audit process with the component audit partner and team 
responsible for the audit work. The signing partner and senior members of the Group engagement team were in contact regularly 
throughout the year and during the final audit procedures in early 2022.

The group audit team assessed the audit risks and key areas of focus at the group level and designed appropriate audit responses that were 
communicated to the component auditor; and we have overseen the detailed audit risk assessment performed by the component audit 
team. The group audit team determined whether the work was planned and performed, via direct reviews, in accordance with the overall 
group audit strategy and the requirements of our group audit instructions communicated to the component audit partner and team. 

Consistent with prior year, due to restrictions on overseas travel we did not visit the component team this year. To satisfy ourselves that 
our oversight and supervision was appropriate we have reviewed component auditor work remotely and had frequent virtual meetings 
with the component team, utilising a number of collaboration tools.

8. Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a 
material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

9. Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either 
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

10. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Polymetal International plc 
continued

11. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our 
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our 
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

11.1. Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities
In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with laws and 
regulations, we considered the following:

• the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the design of the Group’s remuneration 
policies, key drivers for directors’ remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;

• results of our enquiries of management and the Audit and Risk Committee about their own identification and assessment of the risks 
of irregularities; 

• any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the Group’s documentation of their policies and procedures relating to:
 – identifying, evaluating, and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance;
 – detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected, or alleged fraud;
 – the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations;

• the matters discussed among the audit engagement team, including the component audit team and relevant internal specialists, 
including tax, valuations and technical mining specialists regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and 
any potential indicators of fraud; and

• an independent mining industry relevant peer benchmarking study to assess the completeness of potential risks.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and 
identified the greatest potential for fraud in the area of the Nezhda and Prognoz CGU determination and impairment assessment. 

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk 
of management override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the Group operates in, focusing on provisions of those laws 
and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws 
and regulations we considered in this context included Companies (Jersey) Law, 1991; Listing Rules; UK Corporate Governance Code; as 
well as employment law, pensions legislation, and tax legislation prevailing in each country in which we identified a full-scope component.

In addition, we considered provisions of other relevant laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial statements 
but compliance with which may be fundamental to the Group’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty.

11.2. Audit response to risks identified
As a result of performing the above, we identified the Nezhda and Prognoz CGU determination and impairment assessment as a key 
audit matter related to the potential risk of fraud. The key audit matters section of our report explains the matter in more detail and 
describes the specific procedures we performed in response to that key audit matter. 

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:

• reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of 
relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

• enquiring of management, the audit committee and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and claims;
• performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material misstatement 

due to fraud;
• reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports, and reviewing correspondence with 

regulatory authorities; and
• in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other 

adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and 
evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members, including 
internal specialists and the component audit team, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and 
regulations throughout the audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
12. Opinion on other matter prescribed by our engagement letter
In our opinion the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the provisions 
of the UK Companies Act 2006 as if that Act had applied to the Company.

13. Corporate Governance Statement
The Listing Rules require us to review the directors’ statement in relation to going concern, longer-term viability and that part of the 
Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Group’s compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code 
specified for our review.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the Corporate Governance 
Statement is materially consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained during the audit: 

• the directors’ statement with regards to the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis of accounting and any material 
uncertainties identified set out on page 182;

• the directors’ explanation as to its assessment of the Group’s prospects, the period this assessment covers and why the period is 
appropriate set out on page 182–184;

• the directors’ statement on fair, balanced and understandable set out on page 146;
• the board’s confirmation that it has carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks set out on page 184–185;
• the section of the annual report that describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems set out on 

page 149, 150; and
• the section describing the work of the audit committee set out on pages 146–151.

14. Matters on which we are required to report by exception
14.1. Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies (Jersey) Law, 1991 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
• proper accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or proper returns adequate for our audit have not been 

received from branches not visited by us; or 
• the parent company’s financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

15. Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Article 113A of the Companies (Jersey) Law, 1991. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in 
an auditor’s report and those matters we have expressly agreed to report to them on in our engagement letter and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

As required by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rule (DTR) 4.1.14R, these financial 
statements form part of the European Single Electronic Format (ESEF) prepared Annual Financial Report filed on the National Storage 
Mechanism of the UK FCA in accordance with the ESEF Regulatory Technical Standard (‘ESEF RTS’). This auditor’s report provides no 
assurance over whether the annual financial report has been prepared using the single electronic format specified in the ESEF RTS. 

Dean Cook MA FCA
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Recognised Auditor
London, UK
1 March 2022
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 Note

 Year ended 
31 December 

2021
$m

Year ended 
31 December 

2020
 (restated)1 

$m

Revenue 5 2,890 2,865
Cost of sales 6 (1,307) (1,129)

Gross profit  1,583 1,736
General, administrative and selling expenses 10 (226) (184)
Other operating expenses, net 11 (149) (124)
Reversal of previously recognised impairment 17 – 8
Share of loss of associates and joint ventures 20 – (2)

Operating profit  1,208 1,434
Foreign exchange gain, net  5 23
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net 17 3 13
Change in fair value of financial instruments 27 4 (23)
Finance expenses, net 14 (59) (67)

Profit before income tax  1,161 1,380
Income tax expense 15 (257) (314)

Profit for the year  904 1,066

Profit for the financial year attributable to:    
Equity shareholders of the Parent  904 1,066

  904 1,066

Earnings per share ($)    
Basic 29 1.91 2.25
Diluted 29 1.88 2.22

1  Restated following a voluntary change in accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures. As a result other operating expenses, net, profit before 
income tax, income tax expense and profit for the year line items were restated. Refer to Note 1 and Note 32.

Note 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020 

(restated)1
$m

1 January 
2020 

(restated)1
$m

Assets  
Property, plant and equipment 17 3,314 2,738 2,783
Right-of-use assets 18 33 32 31
Goodwill 19 14 14 16
Investments in associates and joint ventures 20 28 24 2
Non-current VAT receivable  – 19 –
Non-current accounts receivable and other financial instruments 22 57 38 10
Deferred tax asset 15 67 56 73
Non-current inventories 21 96 95 114

Total non-current assets  3,609 3,016 3,029
Assets held for sale  – – 14
Current inventories 21 781 662 644
Prepayments to suppliers  119 90 149
Income tax prepaid  11 33 48
VAT receivable  123 129 62
Trade receivables and other financial instruments 22 91 75 18
Cash and cash equivalents 33 417 386 253
Total current assets  1,542 1,375 1,188

Total assets  5,151 4,391 4,217

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity     
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 25 (223) (180) (153)
Current borrowings 23 (446) (334) (214)
Advances received 5 (134) (7) (5)
Income tax payable  (21) (13) (7)
Other taxes payable  (54) (51) (41)
Current portion of contingent consideration liability 33 (31) (41) (7)
Current lease liabilities 33 (7) (6) (3)
Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale  – – (1)

Total current liabilities  (916) (632) (431)
Non-current borrowings 23 (1,618) (1,403) (1,518)
Contingent and deferred consideration liabilities 33 (111) (120) (59)
Deferred tax liability 15 (206) (202) (192)
Environmental obligations 24 (50) (44) (57)
Non-current lease liabilities 33 (29) (27) (29)
Other non-current liabilities 25 (18) (3) (3)

Total non-current liabilities  (2,032) (1,799) (1,858)

Total liabilities  (2,948) (2,431) (2,289)

Net assets  2,203 1,960 1,928

Stated capital account 29 2,450 2,434 2,424
Share-based compensation reserve 30 31 31 26
Translation reserve  (1,865) (1,823) (1,294)
Retained earnings  1,587 1,318 749

Shareholders’ equity  2,203 1,960 1,905

Non-controlling interest  – – 23

Total equity  2,203 1,960 1,928

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  (5,151) (4,391) (4,217)

Notes on pages 202 to 247 form part of these financial statements. These financial statements are approved and authorised for issue by 
the Board of Directors on 1 March 2022 and signed on its behalf by:

Vitaly Nesis
Group Chief Executive

Ian Cockerill
Chairman of the Board of Directors

1 Restated following a voluntary change in accounting policy for 
exploration and evaluation expenditures. As a result, property, 
plant and equipment, deferred tax liability, translation reserve 
and retained earnings line items were restated as described in 
Note 1 and Note 32.

 Year ended 
31 December 

2021
$m

 Year ended 
31 December 

2020 
(restated)1 

$m

Profit for the year 904 1,066 
Items that may be reclassified to profit and loss  
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations, net of income tax (36) (566)
Currency exchange differences on intercompany loans forming net investment in foreign operations, net of 
income tax (6) 34 

Total comprehensive income for the year 862 534 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:   
Equity shareholders of the Parent 862 537 
Non-controlling interest – (3)

 862 534 

1  Restated following a voluntary change in accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures. As a result profit and total comprehensive income for year 
ended 31 December 2020 were restated as described in Note 1 and Note 32.

Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated income statement

Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated balance sheet

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
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Note

 
Year ended 

31 December 
2021

$m

Year ended 
31 December 

2020
 (restated)1 

$m

    
Net cash generated by operating activities 33 1,195 1,167
Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 17 (759) (558)
Acquisitions of joint venture and associate 20 (5) (24)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 17 2 23
Net cash outflow on acquisitions 17 (3) (7)
Acquisition of shares held at FVTPL  (5) –
Loans advanced  (36) (9)
Repayment of loans provided  18 11

Net cash used in investing activities  (788) (564)

Cash flows from financing activities    
Borrowings obtained 33 3,360 2,369
Repayments of borrowings 33 (3,080) (2,366)
Repayments of principal under lease liabilities 33 (4) (4)
Dividends paid 16 (635) (481)
Proceeds from shares issued by subsidiary  – 35
Proceeds from royalty arrangement 25 20 – 
Contingent consideration paid 33 (33) (23)

Net cash used in financing activities  (372) (470)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  35 133
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 33 386 253
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (4) –

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial period 33 417 386

1 Restated following a voluntary change in accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures. As a result net cash generated by operating activities and 
purchases of property, plant and equipment (cash flows from investing activities) were restated as described in Note 1 and Note 32.

 
 

Note
 

Number of 
shares 

outstanding
 

Stated 
capital 

account
$m

Share-based 
compensation 

reserve
$m

Translation 
reserve

$m

Retained 
earnings

$m

Total equity 
attributable 

to the 
parent

$m

Non-
controlling 

interest
$m

Total 
equity

$m

Balance at 1 January 2020 
(restated)1  470,188,201 2,424 26 (1,294) 749 1,905 23 1,928
Profit for the year  – – – – 1,066 1,066 – 1,066
Other comprehensive income, net 
of income tax  – – – (529) – (529) (3) (532)

Total comprehensive income  – – – (529) 1,066 537 (3) 534
Share-based compensation 30 – – 15 – – 15 – 15
Shares allotted to employees 30 1,629,799 10 (10) – – – – –
Consolidation of non-controlling 
interest 28     (16) (16) (20) (36)
Dividends 17 – – – – (481) (481) – (481)

Balance at 31 December 2020 
(restated)1  471,818,000 2,434 31 (1,823) 1,318 1,960 – 1,960
Profit for the year  – – – – 904 904 – 904
Other comprehensive loss, net of 
income tax  – – – (42) – (42) – (42)

Total comprehensive income  – – – (42) 904 862 – 862
Share-based compensation 30 – – 16 – – 16 – 16
Shares allotted to employees 30 1,808,239 16 (16) – – – – –
Dividends 16 – – – – (635) (635) – (635)

Balance at 31 December 2021  473,626,239 2,450 31 (1,865) 1,587 2,203 – 2,203

1 Restated following a voluntary change in accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures. As a result retained earnings and translation reserves 
column items and total comprehensive income balances as at 1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020 were restated. Refer to Note 1 and Note 32.

Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated statement of cash flows 

Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated statement of changes in equity S
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1. General
Corporate information
Polymetal Group (the Group) is a leading gold and silver mining group with operations in Russia and Kazakhstan.

Polymetal International plc (the Company) is the ultimate parent entity of Polymetal Group. The Company was incorporated in 2010 as a 
public limited company under Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 and has its place of business in Cyprus. Its shares are traded on the London 
and Moscow stock exchanges and Astana International Exchange.

Significant subsidiaries
As of 31 December 2021 the Company held the following significant mining and production subsidiaries:

Effective interest held, %

Name of subsidiary

Deposits and 
production 

facilities Segment
Country of 

incorporation
31 December 

2021
31 December 

2020

Gold of Northern Urals JSC Voro Ural Russia 100 100
Svetloye LLC Svetloye Khabarovsk Russia 100 100
Magadan Silver JSC Dukat Magadan Russia 100 100

Lunnoye
Arylakh 100 100

Mayskoye Gold Mining Company LLC Mayskoye Magadan Russia 100 100
Omolon Gold Mining Company LLC Birkachan Magadan Russia

Tsokol
Burgali 100 100

Albazino Resources Ltd Albazino Khabarovsk Russia 100 100
Amur Hydrometallurgical Plant LLC Amursk POX Khabarovsk Russia 100 100
Varvarinskoye JSC Varvara Kazakhstan Kazakhstan 100 100
Bakyrchik Mining Venture LLC Kyzyl Kazakhstan Kazakhstan 100 100
Komarovskoye Mining Company LLC Komar Kazakhstan Kazakhstan 100 100
South-Verkhoyansk Mining Company JSC Nezhda Yakutia Russia 100 100
Prognoz Silver LLC Prognoz Yakutia Russia 100 100
GRK Amikan LLC Veduga Khabarovsk Russia 1001 1001 

1 As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, a 40.6% interest in GRK Amikan LLC is held by VTB Bank (VTB). The Group consolidates 100% of GRK Amikan in accordance 
with IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements as Polymetal’s call option to acquire the 40.6% interest from VTB represents a derivative containing potential voting 
rights, that currently gives the Group access to the returns associated with the related ownership interest.

Going concern 
In assessing its going concern status, the Group has taken account of its principal risks and uncertainties, financial position, sources of 
cash generation, anticipated future trading performance, its borrowings and other available credit facilities, and its forecast compliance 
with covenants on those borrowings, and its capital expenditure commitments and plans.

To assess the resilience of the Group’s going concern assessment in light of the additional sanctions imposed on certain Russian 
institutions and individuals by the global community in February 2022, in addition to the potential for further sanctions and Russian 
counter-sanctions that could impact the Group further, management performed the following “severe sanctions” downside scenarios that 
are considered plausible over the next 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements. As such these do not represent 
the Group’s ‘best estimate’ forecast, but were considered in the Group’s assessment of going concern, reflecting the current evolving 
circumstances and the most significant and plausible potential risks identified at the date of approving the Annual Report.

The Group has already taken precautionary measures to draw down on its facilities in relevant jurisdictions to manage Group liquidity and 
provide optionality for the future. In addition, it has been assumed that the Kazakhstan operations will continue unaffected and the net 
cash flows generated will be available for use within the Group. Accordingly, the following downside scenarios were focussed on the 
Russian-based operations.

Scenario one: The Group’s income and profits are materially reduced due to restrictions on metal sales arising from operations in Russia, 
including to relevant customers (such as Russian based financial institutions) who are impacted by recent sanctions and therefore the Group 
may no longer transact with. The Group would seek to mitigate this by reducing production volumes and variable mining costs where 
possible, reducing and deferring non-essential and non-committed capital expenditure, reducing or cancelling dividend payments and 
drawing down further from the $0.8 billion of currently available undrawn committed facilities agreed with Russian and non-Russian banks.

Scenario two: Consistent with scenario one above, with the exception of assuming that a lower amount of $0.5 billion, rather than the 
entire currently agreed and available $0.8 billion of committed borrowing facilities can be drawn down. This reflects the possibility that 
additional future sanctions could further restrict the Group’s available committed borrowing facilities, and the ability of the lenders to 
service the contracted facility may decline.

Scenario three: Additional future sanctions and macro-economic impacts further restrict the Group’s available committed borrowing 
facilities and reduce those to nil, but the Group continues to sell the majority of its metal production within Russia via alternative sales 
routes to permitted Russian banks, albeit in this scenario sales are settled in Rouble currency. The Group would also seek to reduce 
and defer non-essential and non-committed capital expenditure, and reduce or cancel dividends as reasonable mitigations.

The Group currently holds $0.5 billion of cash, which when combined with the forecast net cashflows under each of the severe sanctions 
downside scenarios above, is considered to be adequate to meet the Group’s financial obligations as they fall due over the next 12 months. 
This includes $0.7 billion of short-term borrowings due for repayment in the next 12 months. No borrowing covenant requirements are 
forecast to be breached in each of the downside scenarios above. The Group expects to retain the ability to move funds between the 
jurisdictions in which the Group operates to settle obligations as they fall due but also has mitigating actions available if moving funds to or 
from operations in Russia becomes more difficult. 

The Group has taken legal advice on the implications of the sanctions to date as part of this assessment. None of the Group’s entities, 
nor its significant shareholders are currently subject to any specific sanctions.

The Board is therefore satisfied that the Group’s forecasts and projections, including the severe sanctions downside scenarios above, 
show that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for at least the next 12 months from the date of this 
report and that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the condensed consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2021. 

Basis of presentation
The Group’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 are prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the United Kingdom (‘UK’) and as issued by the IASB, and the 
Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority. The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost 
basis, except for certain financial instruments which are measured at fair value as of end of the reporting period and share-based 
payments which are recognised at fair value as of the measurement date. 

The following accounting policies have been applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2021. 

Change in accounting policy
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of the retrospective application of a voluntary change in 
accounting policy related to exploration and evaluation costs, which are a category of the balance sheet property, plant and equipment 
line item, in accordance with IFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources.

Previously, the Group capitalised mineral exploration and evaluation costs, including geophysical, topographical, geological and similar 
types of costs, into exploration assets if management concluded that future economic benefits were likely to be realised based on current 
internal assessment of exploration results and identified mineral resources. Costs were subsequently written off if there was an IFRS 6 
impairment indicator present.

As a result of this change in accounting policy the Group’s exploration and evaluation costs are expensed as incurred, via the Other 
operating expenses, net line item, until such time as the Group determines that reasonable prospects exist for eventual economic 
extraction of minerals, which is supported by management’s decision to prepare the mineral resource estimation for a certain field. 
Mineral resource estimation prepared in accordance with JORC is subsequently published on our website.

Exploration assets representing mineral rights which were acquired as a result of a business combination or an asset acquisition in 
accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, are recognised as a result of the purchase price allocation where appropriate; and are 
carried at deemed cost, being fair value as at the date of acquisition or at cost where a transaction is classified as an asset acquisition. 
No changes were made in this part of the policy.

Management has determined that this change in accounting policy will result in more relevant and more reliable information as the policy 
introduces more formalised and less subjective criteria for capitalisation, which is overall more consistent with existing industry and peer 
group practice. 

The voluntary change in the accounting policy has also resulted in a change in presentation of the consolidated statement of cash flows 
with exploration expenditure included in purchases of property, plant and equipment being reclassified from investing to operating activities. 
For those exploration and evaluation (E&E) and Development assets capitalised under the historical policy as at 1 January 2020 the 
retrospective adjustment was calculated as if the new policy had been applied from day one whereas it is not practicable to calculate an 
adjustment in respect of the E&E and Development assets that were transferred to Mining assets prior to 1 January 2020. 

The accumulated effect on E&E and Development assets balances for periods prior to those presented is $27 million with the corresponding 
decrease in retained earnings of $31 million. For further detail of the restatement effect on the Group financial statements refer to Note 32.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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1. General continued
New standards adopted by the Group
There were no new accounting standards that became applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2021. 
There is no material impact on the Group, related to the Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments) 
and impact of the initial application of COVID-19-Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (amendment to IFRS 16 Leases), as these 
amendments are not applicable to the Group.

The Group has elected to early adopt the amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment prohibiting a company from deducting 
from the cost of property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the Company is preparing the asset 
for its intended use, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. These amendments did not have a material impact 
on these consolidated financial statements. 

New accounting standards issued but not yet effective
The following amendments to the accounting standards were in issue but not yet effective as of date of authorisation of these 
consolidated financial statements:

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Amendments resulting from Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020 (fees in the ‘10 per 
cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities), effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022;

• Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements regarding the classification of liabilities as current and non-current, 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023;

• Amendments to IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets regarding the costs to include when assessing 
whether a contract is onerous, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022;

• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier application permitted;
• Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 requiring that an entity discloses its material accounting policies, instead of its 

significant accounting policies, effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier application permitted;
• Amendments to IAS 8 replacing the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a definition of accounting estimates, effective 

for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier application permitted;
• Amendments to IAS 12 clarifying that the initial recognition exemption does not apply to transactions in which equal amounts of 

deductible and taxable temporary differences arise on initial recognition, effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 
2023 with earlier application permitted;

• Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures regarding the 
sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture, the effective date of the amendments has yet to 
be set. However, earlier application of the amendments is permitted.

The Group has determined these standards and interpretations are unlikely to have a material impact on its consolidated financial 
statements or are not applicable to the Group.

2. Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements of the Group include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, from the date that 
control effectively commenced until the date that control effectively ceased. Control is achieved where the Company is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are included in the consolidated income statement from 
the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those 
used by the Group.

All intra-group balances, transactions and any unrealised profits or losses arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

Changes to the Group’s ownership interests that do not result in a loss of control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity 
transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the change in their relative 
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss from the disposal is calculated as the difference between 1) the 
aggregated fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and 2) the previous carrying amount of the 
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and non-controlling interests.

Business combinations
IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies to a transaction or other event that meets the definition of a business combination. When acquiring 
new entities or assets, the Group applies judgement to assess whether the assets acquired and liabilities assumed constitute an integrated 
set of activities, whether the integrated set is capable of being conducted and managed as a business by a market participant, and thus 
whether the transaction constitutes a business combination, using the guidance provided in the standard. Acquisitions of businesses are 
accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the 
date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the 
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in the consolidated income statement as incurred. Transaction costs incurred in 
connection with the business combination are expensed. Provisional fair values are finalised within 12 months of the acquisition date.

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition may include an asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement. Contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred 
in a business combination. Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition retrospectively with the 
corresponding adjustment against goodwill where they qualify as measurement period adjustments. Measurement period adjustments are 
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the measurement period about facts and circumstances that existed 
at the acquisition date. The measurement period may not exceed one year from the effective date of the acquisition. The subsequent 
accounting for contingent consideration that does not qualify for as a measurement period adjustment is based on how the contingent 
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not subsequently remeasured. Contingent consideration 
that is classified as an asset or liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with the corresponding amount being recognised in profit or loss.

The identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in 
accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits, respectively;

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment arrangements 
of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity are remeasured to fair 
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in the consolidated 
income statement. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in 
equity are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest was disposed of.

Goodwill and goodwill impairment
Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date). Goodwill is 
measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the 
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition date amounts of the 
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

If the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the 
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree 
(if any), the excess is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement as a bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to 
each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which 
goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be 
impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the 
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

In 2021 and 2020 the recoverable amount of the relevant cash-generating units was determined based on a fair value less costs to sell 
calculation. Fair value is based on the application of the Discounted Cash Flow Method (DCF) using post-tax cash flows to the life of mine 
models based on proved and probable ore reserves and certain resources where a relevant resource-to-reserve conversion ratio can be 
reasonably applied.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss from disposal.
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2. Significant accounting policies continued
Acquisition of mining licenses
The acquisition of mining licenses is often affected through a non-operating corporate entity. As these entities do not represent a business, it 
is considered that the transactions generally do not meet the definition of a business combination and, accordingly, the transaction is usually 
accounted for as the acquisition of an asset. The net assets acquired are accounted for at cost. Where asset acquisition is achieved in 
stages net assets acquired are accounted for as the sum of cost of the original interest acquired and the cost of additional interest acquired.

Investments in associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint 
arrangement. Significant influence constitutes the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but 
does not extend to a control or joint control over the enactment of those policies. The results and assets and liabilities of associates are 
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting.

A joint arrangement is defined as an arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed 
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the 
parties sharing control.

A joint operation is a joint arrangement in which the parties that share joint control have rights to the assets, and obligations for the 
liabilities, relating to the arrangement. This includes situations where the parties benefit from the joint activity through a share of the 
output, rather than by receiving a share of the results of trading. In relation to its interest in a joint operation, the Group recognises: its 
share of assets and liabilities; revenue from the sale of its share of the output and its share of any revenue generated from the sale of the 
output by the joint operation; and its share of expenses. 

A joint venture is a joint arrangement in which the parties that share joint control have rights to the net assets of the arrangement and is 
accounted for using the equity accounting method.

When entering in a new joint arrangement, the Group applies judgement to assess whether the parties that have joint control over the 
arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement (joint operation) or rights to the net 
assets of the arrangement (joint venture), using the guidance provided in the standard. When a joint arrangement has been structured 
through a separate vehicle, consideration has been given to the legal form of the separate vehicle, the terms of the contractual 
arrangement and, when relevant, other facts and circumstances.

Equity method of accounting
Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated balance sheet at cost 
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the investee. When the 
Group’s share of the losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that entity, the Group ceases to recognise its 
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or 
made payments on behalf of the investee.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of 
an investee at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess 
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after 
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The requirements of IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (IAS 28) are applied to determine whether any indicators that 
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. Where an indicator of impairment exists or the carrying value of the asset 
contains goodwill with an indefinite useful life, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in 
accordance with IAS 36 as a single cash generating unit through the comparison of its recoverable amount (the higher of value in use and 
fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. 
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36.

When a Group entity transacts with its investees, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the investee are recognised in the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or the joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Functional and presentation currency
The functional currency for each entity in the Group is determined as the currency of the primary economic environment in which it 
operates. For all Russian entities the functional currency is the Russian Rouble (RUB). The functional currency of the Group’s entities 
located and operating in Kazakhstan (Varvarinskoye JSC, Bakyrchik Mining Venture LLC, Inter Gold Capital LLC, Komarovskoye Mining 
Company LLC) is the Kazakh Tenge (KZT). The functional currency of the parent company Polymetal International plc and its intermediate 
holding companies is US Dollar.

The Group has chosen to present its consolidated financial statements in US Dollars (US$), as management believes it is the most useful 
presentation currency for international users of the consolidated financial statements of the Group as it is a common presentation 
currency in the mining industry. The translation of the financial statements of the Group entities from their functional currencies to the 
presentation currency is performed as follows:

• all assets and liabilities are translated at closing exchange rates at each reporting period end date;
• all income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the periods presented, except for significant transactions 

that are translated at rates on the date of such transactions;
• resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented as movements relating to the effect 

of translation to the Group’s presentation currency within the Translation reserve in equity; and
• in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash balances at the beginning and end of each reporting period presented are 

translated using exchange rates prevalent at those respective dates. All cash flows in the period are translated at the average 
exchange rates for the periods presented, except for significant transactions that are translated at rates on the date of transaction.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss 
of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity that 
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of 
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to 
profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the 
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in the 
consolidated income statement. For all other partial disposals (i.e. reductions in the Group’s ownership interest in associates or jointly 
controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated 
exchange differences is reclassified to the consolidated income statement.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets and liabilities acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are 
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting 
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in equity.

The Group translates its income and expenses in presentation currency on a monthly basis. During the years ended 31 December 2021 
and 31 December 2020 exchange rates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements were as follows:

 

Russian 
Rouble/US 

Dollar

Kazakh 
Tenge/US 

Dollar

31 December 2021   
Year ended  74.29  431.67
Average 73.65 426.03

31 December 2020   
Year ended  73.88  420.71 
Average  72.13  413.26 

The Russian Rouble and Kazakh Tenge are not freely convertible currencies outside the Russian Federation, and Kazakhstan, 
accordingly, any translation of Russian Rouble and Kazakh Tenge denominated assets and liabilities into US Dollar for the purpose of the 
presentation of consolidated financial statements does not imply that the Group could or will in the future realise or settle in US Dollars the 
translated values of these assets and liabilities.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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2. Significant accounting policies continued
Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in currencies other than an entity’s functional currencies (foreign currencies) are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing 
on the dates of the transactions. All monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates 
prevailing at the reporting date. Non-monetary items carried at historical cost are translated at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of 
transaction. Non-monetary items carried at fair value are translated at the exchange rate prevailing on the date on which the most recent 
fair value was determined. Exchange differences arising from changes in exchange rates are recognised in the consolidated income 
statement. Exchange differences generated by monetary items that forms part of the intragroup net investment in the foreign operation 
are recognised in the consolidated financial statements within foreign currency translation reserve.

Property, plant and equipment
Mining assets
Mining assets include the cost of acquiring and developing mining assets and mineral rights. Mining assets are depreciated to their residual 
values using the unit-of-production method based on proven and probable ore reserves according to the JORC Code, which is the basis on 
which the Group’s mine plans are prepared. Changes in proven and probable reserves are dealt with prospectively. Depreciation is charged 
on new mining ventures from the date that the mining asset is capable of commercial production. In respect of those mining assets whose 
useful lives are expected to be less than the life of the mine, depreciation over the period of the asset’s useful life is applied. 

Mineral rights for the assets under development are included within Exploration and development. When a production phase is started, 
mineral rights are transferred into Mining assets and are depreciated as described below.

Capital construction-in-progress
Capital construction-in-progress assets are measured at cost less any recognised impairment. Depreciation commences when the 
assets are ready for their intended use. 

Exploration and development assets (a change in accounting policy adopted in 2021, described on page 203)
Mineral exploration and evaluation costs, including geophysical, topographical, geological and similar types of costs are expensed as 
incurred until such time as the Group determines that reasonable prospects exist for the eventual economic extraction of minerals, which 
is supported by management’s decision to prepare the mineral resource estimation for the relevant field. Mineral resource estimation 
prepared in accordance with JORC is subsequently published on the Group’s website.

Exploration assets representing mineral rights which were acquired as a result of a business combination or an asset acquisition in 
accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, are recognised as a result of the purchase price allocation where appropriate; and are 
carried at deemed cost, being fair value as at the date of acquisition or at cost where a transaction is classified as an asset acquisition. 
No changes were made to this part of the Group’s policy.

In accordance with IFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources, the potential indicators of impairment include: 
management’s plans to discontinue the exploration activities, lack of further substantial exploration expenditure planned, expiry 
of exploration licenses in the period or in the nearest future, or existence of other data indicating the expenditure capitalised is not 
recoverable. At the end of each reporting period, management assesses whether such indicators exist for the exploration and evaluation 
assets capitalised.

Exploration and evaluation expenditures are transferred to development assets when commercially-viable reserves are identified, so that 
the entity first establishes proved and probable reserves in accordance with the JORC Code and a respective mining plan and model are 
prepared and approved. At the time of reclassification to development assets, exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for 
impairment based on the economic models prepared.

The costs to remove any overburden and other waste materials to initially expose the ore body, referred to as stripping costs, are 
capitalised as a part of development assets when these costs are incurred.

Non-mining assets
Non-mining assets are depreciated to their residual values on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. When parts of an item 
of property, plant and equipment are considered to have different useful lives, they are accounted for and depreciated separately. 
Depreciation methods, residual values and estimated useful lives are reviewed at least annually.

Estimated useful lives are as set out below:

Machinery and equipment 5 – 20 years
Transportation and other assets 3 – 10 years

Gains or losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the asset’s 
carrying amount at the date. The gain or loss arising is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Stripping costs
During the production phase of a mine when the benefit from the stripping activity is the improved access to a component of the ore 
body in future periods, the stripping costs in excess of the average ore to waste ratio for the life of mine of that component are recognised 
as a non-current asset. After initial recognition, the stripping activity asset is depreciated on a systematic basis (unit-of-production 
method) over the expected useful life of the identified component of the ore body made accessible as a result of the stripping activity.

Estimated ore reserves
Estimated proven and probable ore reserves reflect the economically recoverable quantities which can be legally recovered in the future 
from known mineral deposits. The Group’s reserves are estimated in accordance with JORC Code.

Leases
The group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognised a rights-of-use asset 
and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as 
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less), leases of low value assets and leases for the purposes of mining and exploration activities, 
which fall out of the IFRS 16 scope. For these leases, the Group recognises the leases payments as operating expenses on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted 
by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. The lease liability is subsequently 
measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability based on the effective interest method and by 
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made. The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the 
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the commencement date and any initial direct costs. They are 
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and are presented as a separate line in the 
consolidated financial statements.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. The Group applies IAS 36 
to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss as described below.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
An impairment review of property, plant and equipment is carried out when there is an indication that those assets have suffered an 
impairment loss or there are impairment reversal indicators. If any such indication exists, the carrying amount of the asset is compared to 
the estimated recoverable amount of the asset in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss or its reversal (if any). Where it is 
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs.

A CGU is defined as the smallest identifiable group of assets that generate cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows 
from other assets or groups of assets. Assets are combined into a CGU consisting of the assets for which it is impossible to estimate the 
recoverable amount individually, which is the case when:

• the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets; and
• the asset’s value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value less costs of disposal (which is the case when the future cash 

flows from continuing use of the asset cannot be estimated to be negligible).

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Fair value is based on the application of the 
Discounted Cash Flow Method (DCF) using post-tax cash flows. The DCF method is applied to the development of proved and probable 
reserves and certain resources where a relevant resource-to-reserve conversion ratio can be reasonably applied.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 
asset (or cash generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately in the 
consolidated income statement.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the original carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior periods. Impairment loss may be subsequently reversed 
if there has been a significant change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss 
was recognised.

A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement immediately.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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2. Significant accounting policies continued
Inventories
Metal inventories
Inventories including refined metals, metals in concentrate and in process, Doré and ore stockpiles are stated at the lower of production 
cost or net realisable value. Production cost is determined as the sum of the applicable expenditures incurred directly or indirectly in 
bringing inventories to their existing condition and location. Work in-process, metal concentrate, Doré and refined metal are valued at the 
average total production costs at each asset’s relevant stage of production (i.e. the costs are allocated proportionally to unified metal 
where unified metal is calculated based on prevailing market metal prices). Ore stockpiles are valued at the average cost of mining that 
ore. Where ore stockpiles and work in-process are not expected to be processed within 12 months, those inventories are classified as 
non-current.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for that product based on forward metal prices for inventories which are 
expected to be realised within 12 months, and the flat long-term metal prices for non-current inventories, less estimated costs to 
complete production and selling costs.

Consumables and spare parts
Consumables and spare parts are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted average moving 
cost. The portion of consumables and spare parts not reasonably expected to be used within one year is classified as a long-term asset 
in the Group’s consolidated balance sheet. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a Group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are 
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised 
immediately in the consolidated income statement.

Trade receivables without provisional pricing that do not have a significant financing component (determined in accordance with IFRS 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers) are not initially measured at fair value, rather they are initially measured at their transaction price.

Financial assets
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the 
classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified as either financial assets at amortised cost, at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVTOCI) or at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) depending upon the business model for managing the 
financial assets and the nature of the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

Trade receivables without provisional pricing that do not contain provisional price features, loans and other receivables are held to collect 
the contractual cash flows and therefore are carried at amortised cost adjusted for any loss allowance. The loss allowance is calculated in 
accordance with the impairment of financial assets policy described below.

Trade receivables arising from the sales of copper, gold and silver concentrate with provisional pricing features are exposed to future 
movements in market prices as described below and therefore contain an embedded derivative. IFRS 9 does not require that embedded 
derivatives are separated; instead, the contractual cash flows of the financial asset are assessed in their entirety. Trade receivables from 
sales of copper, gold and silver concentrates have contractual cash flow characteristics that are not solely payments of principal and 
interest, and are therefore measured at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9 and do not fall under the expected 
credit losses model (ECL) described below.

Effective interest rate method
The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of allocating interest income or 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including 
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of the financial instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) on investments in debt instruments that are measured 
at amortised cost, trade and other receivables and contract assets, except for trade accounts receivable with provisional pricing. 
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the 
respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and other receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial 
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific 
to the receivables, general economic conditions and assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the 
reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial 
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no 
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in 
the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may 
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any 
recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers 
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers 
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its 
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a 
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are initially classified and subsequently measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. 

A financial liability is classified as and measured at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such 
on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are 
recognized in profit or loss. 

During year ended 31 December 2021 the Group entered into a royalty arrangement, as described in Note 25, which was designated as 
at FVTPL upon initial recognition. The royalty arrangement represents a hybrid financial liability contract with an embedded derivative, 
resulting in future payments that may significantly vary over time based on actual sales. 

A derivative is defined as a financial instrument or other contract within the scope of IFRS 9 with all three of the following characteristics: 

• its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange 
rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the 
variable is not specific to a party to the contract. Inclusion of the term ‘non-financial variable specific to a party to the contract’ is 
limited to excluding insurance contracts from the definition of a derivative.

• it requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other types of contracts that 
would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors; and

• it is settled at a future date.

Borrowings, representing financial contracts for unconditional repayment of principal and interest under a loan agreement, and other 
financial liabilities, including trade payables, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest 
expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognized in 
profit or loss. 

Supplier financing or reverse factoring arrangements, where a financial institution agrees to pay amounts an entity owes to the entity’s 
suppliers and the entity agrees to pay the financial institution at a date later than suppliers are paid, are classified as borrowings when it is 
determined that the terms and/or nature of the related balance account, such as accounts payable or advances to suppliers, are 
substantially changed by the arrangement and therefore represents a financing transaction.
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2. Significant accounting policies continued
Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. 
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised 
in the consolidated income statement.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily 
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the 
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is 
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, cash deposits and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months 
or fewer, which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that 
the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting 
date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows 
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

Environmental obligations
An obligation to incur environmental restoration, rehabilitation and decommissioning costs arises when disturbance is caused by the 
development or ongoing production of mining assets. Such costs arising from the decommissioning of plant and other site preparation 
work, discounted to their net present value using a risk-free rate applicable to the future cash flows, are provided for and capitalised at 
the start of each project, as soon as the obligation to incur such costs arises. These costs are recognised in the consolidated income 
statement over the life of the operation, through the depreciation of the asset in the cost of sales line and the unwinding of the discount 
on the provision in the finance costs line. Costs for restoration of subsequent site damage which is created on an ongoing basis during 
production are provided for at their net present values and recognised in the consolidated income statement as extraction progresses.

Changes in the measurement of a liability relating to the decommissioning of plant or other site preparation work (that result from changes 
in the estimated timing or amount of the cash flow or a change in the discount rate), are added to or deducted from the cost of the related 
asset in the current period. If a decrease in the liability exceeds the carrying amount of the asset, the excess is recognised immediately in 
the consolidated income statement.

The provision for closure cost obligations is remeasured at the end of each reporting period for changes in estimates and circumstances. 
Changes in estimates and circumstances include changes in legal or regulatory requirements, increased obligations arising from 
additional mining and exploration activities, changes to cost estimates and changes to the risk free interest rate.

Employee benefit obligations
Remuneration paid to employees in respect of services rendered during a reporting period is recognised as an expense in that reporting 
period. The Group pays mandatory contributions to the state social funds, including the Pension Fund of the Russian Federation and 
Kazakhstan, which are expensed as incurred.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. Income taxes are computed in accordance with 
the laws of countries where the Group operates.

Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated income 
statement because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other periods and items that are never taxable or 
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for 
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a 
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, 
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that 
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future (judged to be one year). Deferred tax assets arising from deductible 
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will 
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the 
foreseeable future (judged to be one year).

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or 
the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the 
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets 
and liabilities on a net basis.

Recognition of current and deferred tax
Current and deferred tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement, except when they relate to items that are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax is also recognised in 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the 
initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

Uncertain tax positions
Provision for uncertain tax positions is recognised within current tax when management determines that it is probable that a payment 
will be made to the tax authority. For such tax positions the amount of the probable ultimate settlement with the related tax authority is 
recorded. When the uncertain tax position gives rise to a contingent tax liability for which no provision is recognised, the Group discloses 
tax-related contingent liabilities and contingent assets in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 
Total exposures identified as of 31 December 2021 are disclosed in Note 26.

Mining tax
Mining tax includes royalties payable in Russian Federation and Kazakhstan. Mining tax in Russian Federation and Kazakhstan is 
calculated based on the value of the precious metals extracted in the period. This value is usually determined based on the realised 
selling price of precious metals or, in case if there were no sales during the period, cost of production of metals extracted (Russian 
Federation) or the average market price (Kazakhstan) during the reporting period. Mining tax is charged to cost of production and 
absorbed into metal inventories (Note 6).

Revenue recognition
The Group has three major streams: the sale of gold and silver bullions; sale of copper, gold and silver concentrate; sale of Doré. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer in exchange 
for transferring promised goods, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties, such as value added tax (VAT). Group recognises 
revenue when it transfers control of a product or service to a customer.

Sale of gold and silver bullion
The Group processes Doré produced in the Russian Federation into London Good Delivery Bars prior to sale. This final stage of 
processing is carried out on a toll-treatment basis at third party refineries. The Group sells gold and silver bullion to banks through 
long-term agreements. The sales price of each shipment is determined based on the prevailing market price as set by London Bullion 
Market Association (LBMA) on the day the control is transferred.

For domestic sales, the transfer of control generally occurs when the bullion is transferred to customers at the refinery gate under the 
Incoterms Free on Board (FOB) with revenue recognised at that point. 

For export sales, once the gold and/or silver bars have been approved for export by the Russian customs authorities, they are 
transported to the vault of the purchaser. Control and title passes and revenue is recognised at the point when the gold and/or silver bars 
are received by the purchaser under the Incoterms DAP (Delivery at Place).

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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2. Significant accounting policies continued
Sales of copper, gold and silver concentrate 
The Group sells copper, gold and silver concentrate under pricing arrangements whereby the final price is determined by the quoted 
market prices in a period subsequent to the date of sale. These quotation periods differ from 1 to 4 months, depending on the specific 
terms of the relevant agreement.

For shipments under the Incoterms Cost, Insurance and Freight (CIF) and Cost and Freight (CFR), control passes to the customer and the 
revenue is recorded at the time of loading, whilst for shipments under the Incoterms Delivery at Place (DAP) and Delivery at Terminal (DAT), 
control passes when the goods are delivered at an agreed destination. The proportion of concentrate sold on CIF or CFR Incoterms is 
insignificant, and therefore no separate material performance obligations for freight and insurance services are recognised.

Revenue is initially recognised based on Polymetal’s estimate of copper, gold and silver content in the concentrate and using the forward 
London Bullion Market Association (LBMA) or London Metal Exchange (LME) price, adjusted for the specific terms of the relevant 
agreement, including refining and treatment charges which may be subtracted in calculating the provisional amount to be invoiced. 

Subsequent adjustments to pricing during the quotation period is not considered to be variable consideration under IFRS 15, as the 
Group’s performance obligation has been satisfied at the point of delivery. Trade receivables arising from the sales of copper, gold and 
silver concentrate with provisional pricing features are accounted for under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments as described above. The 
provisionally priced accounts receivable, outstanding as of each reporting date, are marked to market using the forward price for the 
quotation period under the relevant agreement with mark-to-market adjustments recognised within revenue.

Doré
Doré sales arrangements are similar to the copper, gold and silver concentrate pricing arrangements described above, with shorter 
quotational periods of up to 14 days.

Share-based compensation
The Group applies IFRS 2 Share-based Payments to account for share-based compensation. IFRS 2 requires companies to recognise 
compensation costs for share-based payments to employees based on the grant-date fair value of the award.

The fair value of the awards granted under Performance Share Plan (PSP) (as defined in the Remuneration report) is estimated using a 
Monte-Carlo model valuation (see Note 30). 

Awards which are granted under Deferred Share Awards (DSA) plan and are released over a period of three years, are measured at share 
price at a grant date and are prorated across periods to the different vesting dates (see Note 30).

The fair value of the awards granted is recognised as a general, administrative and selling expense over the vesting period with a 
corresponding increase in the share-based compensation reserve. Upon the exercise of the awards the amounts recognised within the 
share-based compensation reserve are transferred to stated capital account.

Earnings per share
Earnings per share calculations are based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted 
earnings per share are calculated using the treasury stock method, whereby the proceeds from the potential exercise of dilutive stock 
options with exercise prices that are below the average market price of the underlying shares are assumed to be used in purchasing the 
Company’s common shares at their average market price for the period.

3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the course of preparing the financial statements, management necessarily makes judgements and estimates that can have a significant 
impact on those financial statements. The determination of estimates requires judgements which are based on historical experience, 
current and expected economic conditions, and all other available information.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis, with revisions recognised in the period in which the estimates 
are revised and in the future periods affected. The judgements involving a higher degree of estimation or complexity are set out below. 

Critical accounting judgements
The following are the critical accounting judgements (apart from judgements involving estimation which are dealt with separately below), 
made during the year that had the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Determination of CGUs and Indicators of Impairment and Reversal of Impairment
The Group considers both external and internal sources of information in assessing whether there are any indications that CGUs are 
impaired or a reversal of impairment is needed (noting the are no impairment reversals available for any of the Group’s CGUs in 2021). 
The external sources of information the Group considers include changes in the market, economic and legal environment in which the Group 
operates, that are usually not within its control, and are expected to affect the recoverable amount of CGUs. Internal sources of information 
include the manner in which mining properties, plant and equipment are being used or are expected to be used; and indicators of the 
economic performance of the assets, historical exploration and operating results. The primary external factors considered are changes in 
spot and forecast metal prices, market rates of returns that inform discount rates, and changes in laws and regulations. The primary internal 
factors considered are the Group’s current mine performance against expectations, changes in mineral reserves and resources, life of mine 
plans and exploration results.

Impairment charges and reversals are assessed at the CGU level. Significant management judgement is applied in determining the Group’s 
CGUs, particularly when assets relate to integrated operations, and where changes in CGU determinations could impact the impairment 
charges and reversals recorded. Nezhda and Prognoz represent relatively adjacent mining operations in Yakutia, Russia (noting the 675 km 
distance between the mines), which are now planned to share the existing Nezhda concentrator processing facilities. Management judge the 
Nezhda and Prognoz mines are interdependent, such that the lowest level of identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of other 
assets is both mines on a combined basis. From 2021 the two operations are therefore assessed for impairment as a single CGU. The 
recoverable amount of the CGU, based on a discounted cash flow model prepared as described in the Other sources of estimation 
uncertainty section below, supports the carrying value of $944 million as of 31 December 2021.

The Nezhda-Prognoz CGU impairment assessment is inherently sensitive to plausible changes in certain economic and operational key 
input assumptions within the next financial year, which could increase or reduce the CGU’s recoverable value estimate. Key recoverable 
value input assumptions include the long-term gold and silver prices, the discount rate and the projected operating costs. A simultaneous 
decrease of gold and silver prices to $1,400 and $18 per ounce, respectively, with all other assumptions remaining the same, would 
reduce the CGU’s recoverable value by $216 million, resulting in a $157 million impairment charge. An increase in the projected operating 
costs by 5%, with all other assumptions remaining the same, would result in an impairment charge of $35 million. An increase in the 
post-tax real discount rate by 1% with all other assumptions remaining the same, would result in an impairment charge of $13 million.

Albazino power line
In December 2021, the Group entered into a preliminary lease agreement to lease on pre-agreed terms the single-circuit 110 kV grid power 
line that is planned to run, once constructed, from Gorin, 590 km north from Khabarovsk, to the Albazino production site. The power line will 
be built, owned and operated by AEK LLC, an independent grid management company with completion and the commencement date of the 
lease scheduled for the 2024 year. 

The construction will be funded by a Sberbank 8-year senior loan and Sberbank Investment’s 8-year subordinated loan facility. Polymetal 
will provide guarantees to Sberbank in connection to the senior loan and lease payments to AEK.

The Group applied judgement to determine whether there are indicators of control or significant influence over the project entity and 
concluded there are none, as well as to determine the classification and valuation of guarantees issued that were accounted for as a 
single contract within the lease agreement, as described in Note 26.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
continued
Supplier financing (reverse factoring) arrangements
In 2021 the Group entered into supplier financing (reverse factoring) arrangements with several banks, in accordance with the 
agreements the bank pays the Group’s suppliers based on a register of approved invoices provided by the Group to the banks, which 
includes certain advances to suppliers and payments for the outstanding accounts payable. In determining the appropriate classification 
and presentation of the arrangement transaction, the Group considered the economic substance of the arrangements and whether the 
nature and/or terms of the underlying account balances were substantially changed. The Group has determined that the arrangements 
meet the definition of borrowings as presented in Note 23.

Commencement of commercial production at Nezhda concentrator
Prior to a mine being capable of operating at levels intended by management, relevant capital costs incurred are capitalised as part of the 
costs of the related mining properties. Recognition of the depletion of capitalised costs for mining properties begins when the mine is 
capable of operating at levels intended by management, i.e. when it is available for use. Management considers several factors in 
determining whether a mining property is operating at the levels intended by managements. Amongst other quantitative and qualitative 
factors, throughput and recoveries are the key metrics assessed to make this determination. A factor of 80% of planned design capacity 
throughput and recoveries measures are assessed in determining the appropriate timing. The Group determined that the Nezhda flotation 
facilities were capable of operating at levels intended by management effective 1 December 2021, and depletion commenced at that time.

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires the Group to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts of the assets 
and liabilities recognised, amounts of revenue and expenses reported, and contingent liabilities disclosed, as of the reporting date. 
The determination of estimates is based on current and expected economic conditions, as well as historical data and statistical and 
mathematical methods as appropriate.
 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Based on the current favourable market conditions, including strong commodity prices and the local currency devaluation, as well as 
the stable outlook for commodity prices and their volatilities, management has determined that as of the reporting date there are no 
assumptions or other sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, except the Nezhda-Prognoz CGU valuation key estimate described above.

Other sources of estimation uncertainty
Other sources of estimation uncertainty reflect those sources of estimation uncertainty of which management believe users should 
be aware, but which are not judged to have a reasonably possible material impact of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. They include: cash flow projections for impairment testing and impairment 
reversal, valuation of contingent consideration assets and liabilities and calculation of net realisable value of stockpiles and work-in 
progress, mineral reserves and resources assessment and life of mine plans, useful lives of production and other assets, environmental 
provision, recoverability of deferred tax assets.

DCF models are developed for the purposes of impairment testing, valuation of contingent consideration assets and liabilities and 
calculation of net realisable value of metal inventories. Expected future cash flows used in DCF models are inherently uncertain and could 
change over time. They are affected by a number of factors including ore reserves, together with economic factors such as commodity 
prices, exchange rates, discount rates and estimates of production costs and future capital expenditure. 

• Ore reserves and mineral resources – Recoverable reserves and resources are based on the proven and probable reserves and 
resources in existence. Reserves and resources are incorporated in projected cash flows based on ore reserve statements and 
exploration and evaluation work undertaken by appropriately qualified persons (see below). Mineral resources, adjusted by certain 
conversion ratios, are included where management has a high degree of confidence in their economic extraction, despite additional 
evaluation still being required prior to meeting the required confidence to convert to ore reserves.

• Commodity prices – Commodity prices are based on latest internal forecasts, benchmarked against external sources of information. 
Polymetal currently uses flat real long-term gold and silver prices of $1,500 per ounce (2020: $1,500) and $20 per ounce (2020: $20), 
respectively. For the year 2022 only, gold and silver prices of $1,800 per ounce (2020: $1,500) and $22 per ounce (2020: $20) are 
used, respectively, reflecting latest spot and short term forward price forecasts.

• Foreign exchange rates – foreign exchange rates are based on observable spot rates, or on latest internal forecasts, benchmarked 
with external sources of information for relevant countries of operation, as appropriate. Management have analysed RUB/US$ and 
KZT/US$ rate movements for the year ended 31 December 2021. The long-term rate RUB/US$ and KZT/US$ exchange rates are 
estimated at 72 RUB/US$ and 420 KZT/US$, respectively (2020: 72 RUB/US$ and 422 KZT/US$).

• Discount rates – The Group used a post-tax real discount rate of 8.0% (2020: 9.0%). Cash flow projections used in fair value less 
costs of disposal impairment models are discounted based on this rate. 

• Operating costs, capital expenditure and other operating factors – Cost assumptions incorporate management experience and 
expectations, as well as the nature and location of the operation and the risks associated therewith. Underlying input cost assumptions 
are consistent with related output price assumptions. Other operating factors, such as the timelines of granting licences and permits are 
based on management’s best estimate of the outcome of uncertain future events at the balance sheet date.

No impairment charges for property, plant and equipment was recognised during the year ended 31 December 2021. The sensitivities for 
goodwill impairment testing are disclosed in Note 19, and in the absence of indicators for impairment and relatively high historical 
headroom, these are not extended to impairment testing more generally. 

The sensitivities of contingent consideration liabilities measured at FVTPL ($63 million at 31 December 2021; $87 million at 31 December 
2020) and inventories held at net realisable value ($49 million at 31 December 2021; $52 million at 31 December 2020) to a reasonably 
possible change in key assumptions described above are not considered material.

The Group has assessed the effect from the climate change which is consistent with identifying a climate change as emerging risk 
presented on pages 66–81. Based on the analysis, management believe there is no material impact.

Environmental obligations
The Group’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment. 
The Group’s provision for future decommissioning and land restoration cost ($54 million at 31 December 2021; $44 million at 31 December 
2020) represents management’s best estimate of the present value of the future cash outflows required to settle the liability which reflects 
estimates of future costs, inflation, movements in foreign exchange rates and assumptions of risks associated with the future cash outflows; 
and the applicable interest rate for discounting the future cash outflows. Actual costs incurred in future periods could differ materially from 
the estimates. Additionally, future changes to environmental laws and regulations, life of mine estimates and discount rates could affect the 
carrying amount of this provision.

4. Segment information
The Group has identified five reportable segments:

• Magadan (Omolon, Dukat, Mayskoye);
• Ural (Voro);
• Khabarovsk (Amursk POX, Albazino, Svetloye, Veduga, Kutyn);
• Kazakhstan (Varvara, Komar, Kyzyl);
• Yakutia (Nezhda, Prognoz).

Reportable segments are determined based on the Group’s internal management reports, which are separated based on the Group’s 
geographical structure. Minor companies and activities (management, purchasing and other companies) which do not meet the 
reportable segment criteria are disclosed within ‘Corporate and other’ segment. Each segment is engaged in gold, silver or copper 
mining and related activities, including exploration, extraction, processing and reclamation. The Group’s reportable segments are based 
in the Russian Federation and Kazakhstan. 

The measure which management and the Chief Operating Decision Maker (the CODM) use to evaluate the performance of the Group is 
segment Adjusted EBITDA, which is an Alternative Performance Measure (APM). For more information on the APMs used by the Group, 
including definitions, please refer to pages 248–249.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are consistent with those of the Group’s accounting policies under IFRS. From 
1 January 2021, the segmental amounts of segmental cost of sales and adjusted EBITDA are presented net of unrealised profit, as this 
presentation is more meaningful from a management perspective. During the year ended 31 December 2021 the Group reclassified 
several development projects from ‘Corporate and other’ to ‘Magadan’, ‘Ural’ and ‘Khabarovsk’ segments as this presentation is more 
meaningful from a management perspective. The comparative information was restated accordingly.

Revenue shown as ‘Corporate and other’ comprises, principally, intersegment revenue relating to the supply of inventories, spare parts 
and fixed assets, and rendering management services to the Group’s production entities. The Group recognises Revenue and related 
Cost of sales in the segment where the source ore was mined, regardless of whether it was processed on behalf of that segment at 
production facilities related to another hub, Revenue and Cost of sales of the production entities are reported net of any intersegmental 
Revenue and Cost of sales related to the intercompany sales of ore and concentrates, as well as intercompany smelting services, as this 
presentation is more meaningful from a management and forecasting perspective. 

Business segment current assets and liabilities, other than current inventory, are not reviewed by the CODM and therefore are not 
disclosed in these consolidated financial statements. The segment adjusted EBITDA reconciles to the profit before income tax as follows:
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S
trateg

ic rep
o

rt
G

overnance
Financial statem

ents
A

p
p

end
ices

216 217Polymetal International plc Integrated Annual Report & Accounts 2021Polymetal International plc Integrated Annual Report & Accounts 2021



4. Segment information continued

Period ended 31 December 2021 ($m) Kazakhstan Magadan Khabarovsk Ural Yakutia

Total 
operating 
segments

Corporate 
and other

Intersegment 
operations 

and 
balances Total

Revenue from external customers 983 1,103 641 163 – 2,890 – – 2,890
Cost of sales, excluding depreciation, 
depletion and write-down of inventory to 
net realisable value 318 456 238 63 – 1,075 – – 1,075

Cost of sales 396 550 292 69 – 1,307 – – 1,307
Depreciation included in Cost of sales (78) (74) (48) (6) – (206) – – (206)
Write-down of metal inventory to net 
realisable value – (20) (5) – – (25) – – (25)
Write-down of non-metal inventory to net 
realisable value – – 1 – – 1 – – 1
Rehabilitation expenses – – (2) – – (2) – – (2)

General, administrative and selling 
expenses, excluding depreciation, 
amortisation and share-based 
compensation 23 33 29 7 11 103 128 (29) 202

General, administrative and selling 
expenses 25 34 30 7 11 107 148 (29) 226
Depreciation included in SGA (2) (1) (1) – – (4) (4) – (8)
Share-based compensation – – – – – – (16) – (16)

Other operating expenses excluding 
additional tax charges, bad debt and 
expected credit loss allowance 12 56 35 7 7 117 35 (3) 149

Other operating expenses, net 13 57 33 7 7 117 35 (3) 149
Bad debt and expected credit loss 
allowance – (1) – – – (1) – – (1)
Additional tax charges/fines/penalties (1) – 2 – – 1 – – 1

Share of loss of associates and joint ventures – – – – – – – – –

Adjusted EBITDA 630 558 339 86 (18) 1,595 (163) 32 1,464

Depreciation expense 80 75 49 6 – 210 4 – 214
Rehabilitation expenses – – 2 – – 2 – – 2
Write-down of non-metal inventory to net 
realisable value – – (1) – – (1) – – (1)
Write-down of metal inventory to net 
realisable value – 20 5 – – 25 – – 25
Share-based compensation – – – – – – 16 – 16
Bad debt and expected credit loss 
allowance – 1 – – – 1 – – 1
Additional tax charges/fines/penalties 1 – (2) – – (1) – – (1)

Operating profit 549 462 286 80 (18) 1,359 (183) 32 1,208

Foreign exchange gain/(loss), net         5
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net         3
Change in fair value of contingent 
consideration liability         4
Finance expenses, net         (59)
Profit before tax         1,161
Income tax expense         (257)
Profit for the financial period         904
Current metal inventories 108 228 117 50 50 553 – – 553
Current non-metal inventories 35 92 50 8 17 202 26 – 228
Non-current segment assets:      –   

Property, plant and equipment, net 728 376 1,045 126 938 3,213 101 – 3,314
Goodwill – 14 – – – 14 – – 14
Non-current inventory 30 25 38 2 1 96 – – 96
Investments in associates – – – – – – 28 – 28

Total segment assets 901 735 1,250 186 1,006 4,078 155 – 4,233

Additions to non-current assets:          
Property, plant and equipment 93 117 437 67 152 866 5 – 871
Acquisition of subsidiaries – – – – – – 16 – 16

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

Period ended 31 December 2020 
(restated)1 ($m) Kazakhstan Magadan Khabarovsk Ural Yakutia

Total 
operating 
segments

Corporate 
and other

Intersegment 
operations 

and balances Total

Revenue from external customers 940 1,096 681 148 – 2,865 – – 2,865
Cost of sales, excluding depreciation, 
depletion and write-down of inventory to 
net realisable value 265 399 218 34 – 916 – – 916

Cost of sales 338 482 271 38 – 1,129 – – 1,129
Depreciation included in Cost of sales (73) (72) (49) (6) – (200) – – (200)
Write-down of metal inventory to net 
realisable value – (8) – 2 – (6) – – (6)
Write-down of non-metal inventory to net 
realisable value – (4) (4) – – (8) – – (8)
Rehabilitation expenses – 1 – – – 1 – – 1

General, administrative and selling expenses, 
excluding depreciation, amortisation and 
share-based compensation 18 31 17 6 8 80 110 (28) 162

General, administrative and selling 
expenses 20 31 18 6 8 83 129 (28) 184
Depreciation included in SGA (2) – (1) – – (3) (4) – (7)
Share-based compensation – – – – – – (15) – (15)

Other operating expenses excluding 
additional tax charges, bad debt and 
expected credit loss allowance 22 43 23 9 17 114 12 (2) 124

Other operating expenses 22 43 23 9 17 114 12 (2) 124
Bad debt and expected credit loss 
allowance – – (2) – – (2) – – (2)
Additional tax charges/fines/penalties – – 2 – – 2 – – 2

Share of loss of associates and joint ventures – – – – – – 2 – 2

Adjusted EBITDA 635 623 423 99 (25) 1,755 (124) 30 1,661

Depreciation expense 75 72 50 6 – 203 4 – 207
Rehabilitation expenses – (1) – – – (1) – – (1)
Write-down of non-metal inventory to net 
realisable value – 4 4 – – 8 – – 8
Write-down of metal inventory to net 
realisable value – 8 – (2) – 6 – – 6
Reversal of previously recognised 
impairment (5) (3) – – – (8) – – (8)
Share-based compensation – – – – – – 15 – 15
Bad debt and expected credit loss 
allowance – – 2 – – 2 – – 2
Additional tax charges/fines/penalties – – (2) – – (2) – – (2)

Operating profit 565 543 369 95 (25) 1,547 (143) 30 1,434

Foreign exchange gain/(loss), net         23
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net         13
Change in fair value of contingent 
consideration liability         (23)
Finance expenses, net         (67)
Profit before tax         1,380
Income tax expense         (314)
Profit for the financial period         1,066
Current metal inventories 109 221 100 30 12 472 – – 472
Current non-metal inventories 30 89 39 6 6 170 20 – 190
Non-current segment assets:

Property, plant and equipment, net 737 344 689 67 812 2,649 89 – 2,738
Goodwill – 14 – – – 14 – – 14
Non-current inventory 31 26 36 2 – 95 – – 95
Investments in associates – – – – – – 24 – 24

Total segment assets 907 694 864 105 830 3,400 133 – 3,533

Additions to non-current assets:          
Property, plant and equipment 83 92 244 35 141 595 12  607
Acquisition of subsidiaries – – – – – – 7  7

 
1 Restated following a voluntary change in accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures. As a result other operating expenses, net, profit before 

income tax, income tax expense and profit for the year line items were restated. Refer to Note 1 and Note 32.
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5. Revenue
 Year ended 31 December 2021 

 

Volume 
shipped 

(unaudited)

Volume 
payable 

(unaudited)

Average 
price ($ per 

oz/t payable) 
(unaudited) $m

Gold (thousand ounces)  1,421 1,386  1,768  2,450 
Silver (thousand ounces)  17,860  17,482  24.0  419 
Copper (tonnes)  2,403  2,093  10,032  21 

Total    2,890

 Year ended 31 December 2020

 

Volume 
shipped 

(unaudited)

Volume 
payable 

(unaudited)

Average price 
($ per oz/t 

payable) 
(unaudited) $m

Gold (thousand ounces)  1,428  1,392  1,773  2,467 
Silver (thousand ounces)  19,668  19,327  20.1  389 
Copper (tonnes)  1,529  1,435  6,273  9 

Total     2,865

Geographical analysis of revenue by destination is presented below:
Year ended 

 
 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Sales within the Russian Federation 1,271 1,215
Sales to Kazakhstan 1,008 942
Sales to East Asia 490 539
Sales to Europe 121 169

Total 2,890 2,865

Included in revenues for the year ended 31 December 2021 are revenues which arose from the sales to the Group’s largest customers, 
whose contribution to the Group’s revenue exceeded 10% of the total revenue. In 2021 revenues from such customers amounted to 
$833 million, $638 million, $369 million and $279 million respectively (2020: $1,120 million, $605 million, $337 million and $264 million, 
respectively). 

Presented below is an analysis per revenue streams as described in Note 2 Significant accounting policies:

 Year ended 

 
 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Bullions 1,341 1,358
Concentrate 897 902
Dore 652 605

Total 2,890 2,865

The Group enters into prepaid bullion sales arrangements, which are settled solely through bullion shipments and are priced based on 
the spot London Bullion Market Association (LBMA) price, prevailing at the date of the respective shipment. The arrangements fall under 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and respective advances received represent contract liabilities, which are presented on 
the face of the balance sheet within Advances received (31 December 2021: $113 million; 31 December 2020: nil). As of 31 December 
2021 contract obligations related to the concentrate sales amount to $21 million and were also accounted for as Advances received 
(31 December 2020: $7 million).

6. Cost of sales 
Year ended 

 
 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Cash operating costs   
On-mine costs (Note 7) 516 437
Smelting costs (Note 8) 383 350
Purchase of ore and concentrates from third parties 130 106
Mining tax 152 142

Total cash operating costs 1,181 1,035
Depreciation and depletion of operating assets (Note 9) 229 206
Rehabilitation expenses (Note 24) 2 (1)

Total costs of production 1,412 1,240

Increase in metal inventories (132) (127)
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value (Note 21) 24 14
Idle capacities and abnormal production costs 3 2

Total 1,307 1,129

7. On-mine costs
 Year ended 

 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Services 254 205
Labour 130 117
Consumables and spare parts 126 112
Other expenses 6 3

Total (Note 6) 516 437
 

8. Smelting costs
 Year ended 

 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Consumables and spare parts 164 149
Services 145 136
Labour 72 64
Other expenses 2 1

Total (Note 6) 383 350

9. Depletion and depreciation of operating assets
 Year ended 

 
 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

On-mine 161 143
Smelting 68 63

Total in cost of production (Note 6) 229 206
Less: absorbed into metal inventories (23) (6)

Depreciation included in cost of sales 206 200

Depreciation of operating assets excludes depreciation relating to non-operating assets (included in general, administrative and selling 
expenses) and depreciation related to assets employed in development projects where the charge is capitalised. Depreciation expense, 
which is excluded from the Group’s calculation of Adjusted EBITDA (see Note 4), also excludes amounts absorbed into unsold metal 
inventory balances.
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10. General, administrative and selling expenses
 Year ended 

 
 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Labour 171 139
Share-based compensation (Note 30) 16 15
Depreciation 8 7
Services 10 5
Other  21 18

Total 226 184

including   
Mine site expenses 107 83
Corporate head office expenses 119 101

Total 226 184

11. Other operating expenses, net
Year ended 

 
 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020 

(restated)1 
$m

Exploration expenses 72 51
Social payments 28 28
Provision for investment in Special Economic Zone 20 18
Taxes, other than income tax 11 15
Additional tax charges/fines/penalties (1) (2)
Change in estimate of environmental obligations 2 (3)
Other expenses 17 17

Total 149 124

1 Restated following a voluntary change in accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures. As a result the exploration expenses line and corresponding 
other operating expenses, net items were restated. Refer to Note 1 and Note 32.

For the operations held in the Special Economic Zone of the Russian Far East, Omolon Gold Mining Company LLC and Magadan Silver 
JSC are entitled to the decreased statutory income tax rate of 17%, as well as decreased mining tax rate (paying 60% of standard mining 
tax rates). In return for obtaining this tax relief the members of the regional free Economic Zone are obliged to invest 50% of their tax 
savings each year in the Special Economic Zone Development Programme, amounting to $20 million in 2021 (2020: $18 million). 

In 2021 other expenses include $8 million to COVID-19-related expenses, including providing isolation facilities for employees and 
contractors arriving for shifts, purchasing test kits and other expenses (2020: $7 million).

Operating cash flow spent on exploration activities amounts to $71 million (2020: $52 million).

12. Employee costs
Year ended 

 
 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Wages and salaries 366 305
Social security costs 89 74
Share-based compensation 16 15

Total employee costs 471 394
Reconciliation:   
Less: employee costs capitalised (64) (47)
Less: employee costs absorbed into unsold metal inventory balances (13) (14)

Employee costs included in costs of sales 394 333

The weighted average number of employees during the year ended 31 December 2021 was 13,589 (year ended 31 December 2020: 12,447).

Compensation of key management personnel is disclosed within Note 31.

13. Auditor’s remuneration
 Year ended 

 
 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Fees payable to the auditor and their associates for the audit of the Company’s Annual Report
United Kingdom  0.56  0.47 
Overseas  0.76  0.73 
Audit of the Company’s subsidiaries  0.07  0.08 

Total audit fees  1.39  1.28 
Audit-related assurance services (half-year financial statements review)  0.50  0.48 

Total audit and half-year review fees  1.89  1.76 
Other services  0.34  0.04 

Total non-audit fees  0.34  0.04 

Total fees  2.23  1.80 

Non-audit fees as % of audit and half-year review fees 18% 2%

In 2021 other services are mainly related to assurance over climate-related financial disclosures, included in the 2021 Annual Report.

14. Finance expenses, net
 Year ended 

 
 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Interest expense on borrowings 51 59
Unwinding of discount on lease liabilities (Note 18, Note 33) 3 3
Unwinding of discount on environmental obligations (Note 24) 4 3
Unwinding of discount on contingent consideration liability (Note 33) 8 5
Finance income (7) (3)

Total 59 67

During the year ended 31 December 2021 interest expense on borrowings excludes borrowing costs capitalised in the cost of qualifying 
assets of $13 million (2020: $10 million). These amounts were calculated based on the Group’s general borrowing pool and by applying 
an effective interest rate of 2.91% (2020: 3.39%) to cumulative expenditure on such assets.

15. Income tax
The amount of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 recognised in profit and loss was 
as follows:

Year ended 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020 

(restated)1 
$m

Current income tax 261 271
Deferred income tax (4) 43

Total 257 314

1 Restated following a voluntary change in accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures. As a result the deferred income tax line and corresponding 
total income tax expense resulting line were restated. Refer to Note 1 and Note 32.
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15. Income tax continued
A reconciliation between the reported amounts of income tax expense attributable to income before income tax is as follows: 

Year ended

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020 (restated) 1

$m

Profit before income tax  1,161  1,380 
Theoretical income tax expense at the tax rate of 20%  232  277 
Effect of Special Economic Zone and Regional Investment project decreased tax rates  (33)  (42)
Tax effect of WHT on intercompany dividends  33  39 
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions  5  9 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration liability  –  5 
Losses not recognised and written-off  3  5 
Non-deductible interest expense  10  7 
Non-taxable consolidation adjustments on disposal of subsidiaries  1  3 
Other non-taxable income and non-deductible expenses  10  12 
Adjustments in respect of prior periods  (4)  (1)

Total income tax expense  257  314 

1 Restated following a voluntary change in accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures. As a result the deferred income tax line and corresponding 
total income tax expense resulting line were restated. Refer to Note 1 and Note 32.

The actual tax expense differs from the amount which would have been determined by applying the statutory rate of 20% for the 
Russian Federation and Kazakhstan to profit before income tax as a result of the application of relevant jurisdictional tax regulations, 
which disallow certain deductions which are included in the determination of accounting profit. These deductions include share-based 
payment expenses, social related expenditures and other non-production costs, certain general and administrative expenses, financing 
expenses, foreign exchange related and other costs.

In 2021 Svetloye LLC was subject to tax relief as a Regional Investment Project and was entitled to the statutory income tax rate of 0%, 
while from 2022 a tax rate of 20% will be applied. Omolon Gold Mining Company LLC and Magadan Silver JSC are entitled to the decreased 
statutory income tax rate of 17% for the operations held in the Special Economic Zone of the Russian Far East, the rate of 17% was used 
in calculation of income tax provision and deferred tax positions for those entities. Amursk Hydrometallurgical Plant LLC is entitled to an 
income tax rate of 0% up to 2023, a tax rate of 13% in 2024 and a tax rate of 12% during 2025–2028. South-Verkhoyansk Mining Company 
JSC received tax relief as a Regional Investment Project and is entitled to the statutory income tax rate of 10% from 2022 to 2026 and 13.5% 
from 2027 to 2028.

Tax exposures recognised in income tax 
In 2021 and 2020 no individual significant exposures were identified as probable and therefore provided for. Management has identified a 
total exposure in respect of contingent liabilities (Note 26) (covering taxes and related interest and penalties) of approximately $157 million 
being uncertain tax positions (31 December 2020: $157 million) which relate to income tax. This is connected largely to the more assertive 
position of the Russian tax authorities in their interpretation of tax legislation in several recent court cases for other taxpayers. Fiscal periods 
remain open to review by the tax authorities in respect of taxes for the three and five calendar years preceding the year of tax review for 
Russia and Kazakhstan respectively. In case of Regional Investment Project in Russian Federation fiscal period remains open to review for 
five years as well. While the Group believes it has provided adequately for all tax liabilities based on its understanding of the tax legislation, 
the above facts may create additional financial risks for the Group. 

Management does not anticipate a significant risk of material changes in estimates in these matters in the next financial year. 

Income tax amounts included in other comprehensive income
An analysis of tax by individual item presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is presented below: 

Year ended 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) on net investment in foreign operation  
Current tax expense 2 4
Deferred tax expense – –

Total income tax recognised in other comprehensive income 2 4

Current and deferred tax assets recognised within other comprehensive income relate to the tax losses originated by foreign currency 
exchange losses, allowable for tax purposes and generated by monetary items that form part of the intragroup net investment in the 
foreign operation. These foreign currency exchange losses are recognised in the consolidated financial statements within the foreign 
currency translation reserve.

Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation is attributable to the temporary differences that exist between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes.

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the reporting period.

 
 

Mineral 
rights

$m

Exploration 
in progress

$m

Trade and 
other 

payables
$m

Environmental 
obligation 

$m
Tax losses 

$m

Unremmited 
earnings 

$m
Other 

$m
Total 

$m

At 1 January 2020 (restated)1 (237) (38) 17 9 133 – (3) (119)

Charge to income statement 15 (10) 4 – (33) (15) (4) (43)
Exchange differences 33 6 (3) (1) (19) – – 16

At 31 December 2020 (restated)1 (189) (42) 18 8 81 (15) (7) (146)

Charge to income statement 2 (24) – 3 19 (7) 11 4
Exchange differences 3 – – – – – – 3

At 31 December 2021 (184) (66) 18 11 100 (22) 4 (139)

1 Restated following a voluntary change in accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures. As a result as at 1 January 2020 line, charge to income 
statement for 2020 line and corresponding resulting line as at 31 December 2020 were restated. Refer to Note 1 and Note 32.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where the Group has a legally enforceable right to do so. The following analysis shows 
deferred tax balances presented for financial reporting purposes:

  Year ended 

 
 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020 

(restated)2

$m

Deferred tax liabilities  (206)  (202)
Deferred tax assets 67 56 

Total  (139)  (146)

2 Restated following a voluntary change in accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures. As a result the deferred income tax line and corresponding 
total income tax expense resulting line were restated. Refer to Note 1 and Note 32.
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15. Income tax continued
The Group believes that recoverability of the recognised deferred tax asset (DTA) of $100 million at 31 December 2021 (2020: $81 million), 
which is related to the tax losses carried forward, is more likely than not based upon expectations of future taxable income in the Russian 
Federation and Kazakhstan.

From 1 January 2019 in accordance with Russian Federation tax law regarding loss carryforwards, loss carryforwards are limited to 50% of 
taxable profit in tax years through to 2024. From 2025 the limitation will expire and it will be possible to fully utilise loss carryforwards against 
the corporate tax base in a given year and losses incurred from 2007 can be carried forward for an indefinite period until fully utilised.

Losses incurred in certain taxable entities in recent years have created a history of losses as of 31 December 2021. The Group has 
concluded that there is sufficient evidence to overcome the recent history of losses based on forecasts of sufficient taxable income in the 
carry-forward period.

Tax losses carried forward represent amounts available for offset against future taxable income generated predominantly Prognoz LLC, 
Polymetal JSC and JSC South-Verkhoyansk Mining Company. Each legal entity within the Group represents a separate tax-paying 
component for income tax purposes. The tax losses of one entity cannot be used to reduce taxable income of other entities of the Group.

The Group’s estimate of future taxable income is based on established proven and probable reserves which can be economically 
developed. The related detailed mine plans and forecasts provide sufficient supporting evidence that the Group will generate taxable 
earnings to be able to fully realise its net DTA even under various stressed scenarios. The amount of the DTA considered realisable, 
however, could be reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income during the carry forward period are reduced due to 
delays in production start dates, decreases in ore reserve estimates, increases in environmental obligations, or reductions in precious 
metal prices. 

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of $84 million (2020: $58 million) of losses as it is not considered probable that 
there will be future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised. 

In 2021 the Group paid withholding income tax of $25 million (2020: $24 million) related to intercompany dividends, which were remitted 
during the year. As of 31 December 2021 the Group has recognised a deferred tax liability of $22 million (31 December 2020: $15 million) 
for the undistributed retained earnings of certain of the Group subsidiaries, which are expected to be remitted from these subsidiaries in 
foreseeable future (judged to be one year). No deferred tax liabilities for taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of the 
Group subsidiaries have been recognised where the Group has determined that the undistributed profit of its subsidiaries will not be 
distributed in the foreseeable future (judged to be one year). The temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised, amount to $3.2 billion (2020: $2.9 billion). 

16. Dividends
Dividends recognised during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are detailed in the below:

Dividends

 cents per share $m

deducted from the 
equity during the 

period
 proposed in relation to 

the period Paid in

Special dividend 2019 20 94 2020 2019 March 2020
Final dividend 2019 42 198 2020 2019 May 2020
Interim dividend 2020 40 189 2020 2020 September 2020
Final dividend for 2020 89 421 2021 2020 May 2021
Interim dividend 2021 45 214 2021 2021 September 2021
Final dividend for 2021 52 246 n/a 2021 n/a

 Total dividends

 
 

Deducted from the 
equity 

$m

 Proposed for the 
period

$m
Paid in

$m

Year ended 31 December 2020  481  610 481
Year ended 31 December 2021  635  456 635

17. Property, plant and equipment

 

Development 
assets 

$m

 Exploration 
assets 

$m
Mining assets 

$m

 Non-mining 
assets 

$m

 Capital 
construction 
in-progress 

$m
Total 

$m

Cost       
Balance at 1 January 2020 (restated)1 582 368 2,653 64 274 3,941
Additions 67 15 149 11 365 607
Transfers (147) (255) 447 3 (48) –
Change in environmental obligations (Note 24) – – (5) – 3 (2)
Acquisitions – 7 – – – 7
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries (12) (2) – (2) – (16)
Disposals and write-offs including fully 
depreciated items – – (72) (1) (1) (74)
Translation to presentation currency (72) (71) (371) (10) (50) (574)
Balance at 31 December 2020 (restated)1 418 62 2,801 65 543 3,889
Additions 65 14 305 10 477 871
Transfers (98) (11) 343 1 (235) –
Change in environmental obligations (Note 24) – – 2 – 1 3
Acquisitions – 16 – – – 16
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries – (6) – – – (6)
Disposals and write-offs including fully 
depreciated items – – (64) (1) – (65)
Translation to presentation currency (1) (1) (44) (1) (3) (50)

Balance at 31 December 2021 384 74 3,343 74 783 4,658
 

Development 
assets 

$m

 Exploration 
assets 

$m

 Mining 
assets 

$m

 Non-mining 
assets 

$m

 Capital 
construction 
in-progress 

$m
 Total 

$m

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation
Balance at 1 January 2020 (restated)1 – – (1,125) (33) – (1,158)
Charge for the period – – (232) (7) – (239)
Impairment reversal – – 8 – – 8
Disposals and write-offs including fully 
depreciated items – – 64 1 – 65
Translation to presentation currency – – 167 6 – 173
Balance at 31 December 2020 (restated)1 – – (1,118) (33) – (1,151)
Charge for the period – – (260) (7) – (267)
Disposals and write-offs including fully 
depreciated items – – 59 – – 59
Translation to presentation currency – – 15 – – 15

Balance at 31 December 2021 – – (1,304) (40) – (1,344)

Net book value

1 January 2020 (restated)1 582 368 1,528 31 274 2,783

31 December 2020 (restated)1 418 62 1,683 32 543 2,738

31 December 2021 384 74 2,039 34 783 3,314

1 Restated following a voluntary change in accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures. As a result the balance as at 1 January 2020, additions for 
2020 and the corresponding resulting line items for the balance as at 31 December 2020 were restated. Refer to Note 1 and Note 32.

Mining assets, exploration and development assets at 31 December 2021 included mineral rights with a net book value which amounted 
to $1,016 million (31 December 2020: $1,045 million) and capitalised stripping costs with a net book value of $249 million (31 December 
2020: $141 million). Mineral rights of the Group comprise assets acquired upon acquisition of subsidiaries. As of 31 December 2021 
capital construction in progress includes prepayments made for equipment and construction works amounting to $162 million (2020: 
$154 million).

Included within the $65 million of assets disposed of and written off were fully depleted items of $19 million (year ended 31 December 2020: 
$30 million). 

No property, plant and equipment was pledged as collateral at 31 December 2021 or at 31 December 2020.
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17. Property, plant and equipment continued
Ruskit acquisition
In October 2021, the Group acquired a 100% stake in GPH Ruskit LLC (Ruskit) for a cash consideration of $2 million and deferred 
consideration valued as of the acquisition date at $10 million. Ruskit owns a license for the Kegali deposit located in the Magadan region. 
The consideration paid is attributable to the acquired mineral rights of $12 million, classified within property, plant and equipment as an 
exploration asset.

Other acquisitions of exploration assets during the year ended 31 December 2021 of $4 million in total, relate to consolidation of certain 
former joint ventures (Note 20); and the acquisition of an exploration interest in Kazakhstan for cash consideration of $2 million.

Levoberezhnoye disposal
In June 2021, the Group sold its 100% interest in a minor subsidiary, Levoberezhnoye, to the third party for $2 million in cash and a 
contingent consideration estimated at $7 million as of the date of the agreement. Levoberezhnoye’s net assets included an exploration 
asset of $6 million, and accordingly the Group recognised a pre-tax gain on disposal of $3 million.

18. Leases
Movements of the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31 December 2021 are as follow:

Year ended 

 

31 December 
2021 

$m

31 December 
2020 

$m

Right-of-use assets
At 1 January 32 31
Additions 9 16
Depreciation charge for the period (6) (4)
Disposals (4) (4)
Accumulated depreciation of assets disposed 1 1
Translation to presentation currency 1 (8)

At 31 December 33 32

The most significant leases of the Group are office leases.

Movements of the lease liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2021 are detailed in Note 33. Maturity analysis of lease liabilities is 
presented in Note 28.

The Group excluded the following lease agreements from the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities and recognises the lease payments 
associated with those leases as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term:

• Lease agreements with variable payments;
• Lease agreements of land plots to explore for or use minerals and similar non-generative resources;
• Short-term lease agreements that expire within 12 months from the date of initial application;
• Lease agreements of low value assets (of $5,000 or less).

Amounts recognised in profit and loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 are as follows:
Year ended 

 
 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Expenses related to lease exemptions (3) (3)
Unwinding of discount on lease liabilities (3) (3)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (6) (4)

Total lease expenses (12) (10)

19. Goodwill
 Year ended 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Cost and Accumulated impairment losses   
At 1 January 14 16
Translation effect  – (2)

At 31 December 14 14

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the following cash generating units: 

Mayskoye 11 11
Dukat 3 3

Total 14 14

The recoverable amount of the relevant cash-generating units is determined based on a fair value less costs of disposal calculation, 
which represent Level 3 fair value measurement in accordance with IFRS 13. The impairment testing procedure and related assumptions 
are described in detail in Note 2 and Note 3 “Use of estimates” section above.

Sensitivity analysis
For Dukat and Mayskoye management has performed an analysis as to whether a reasonably possible adverse change to any of the key 
assumptions would lead to impairment. 

The following scenarios were considered as reasonably possible and were used for this sensitivity analysis:

• 10% simultaneous decrease in gold and silver prices over the life of mine;
• 10% appreciation in RUB/US$ exchange rates;
• 10% increase in operating expenses over the life of mine; and 
• 0.5% increase in the discount rate applied.

Each of the sensitivities above has been determined by assuming that the relevant key assumption moves in isolation, and without regard 
to potential mine plan changes and other management decisions which would be taken to respond to adverse changes in existing 
management projections. No scenarios would result in impairment of any of the recognised goodwill.

20. Investments in associates and joint ventures

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

 
 

Voting
power 

% 

Carrying 
Value

$m

Voting
power 

% 

Carrying
Value

$m

Interests in associates and joint ventures    
Tomtor (ThreeArc Mining Ltd)  9.1  20 9.1  20 
Other investments   4   4 

Total  24  24

Loans advanced forming part of net investment in joint ventures    
Other investments  4  –

Total  4  –

Total investments in associates and joint ventures  28  24
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20. Investments in associates and joint ventures continued
Movement during the reporting periods was as follows:

 Year ended 

 
 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

At 1 January 24 2
Acquisitions 1  24 
Consolidated as subsidiaries (1) –
Loss from associates and joint ventures – (2)
Loans advanced forming part of net investment 4 –

Total at 31 December 28 24

Tomtor (ThreeArc Mining Ltd)
ThreeArc owns 100% of the world-class Tomtor niobium and rare-earth metals exploration project (Tomtor). The transaction whereby the 
Group acquired a 9.1% interest in Three Arc was completed in April 2020. The project is comprised of the Tomtor open-pit deposit and 
the Krasnokamensk Hydrometallurgical Facility which will be built near the town of Krasnokamensk. 

The Group has determined that it continues to have significant influence over the investee through participation in policy-making 
processes and representation on the board of directors, and therefore ThreeArc constitutes an associate under IAS 28 Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures. The investment was accounted for using the equity method. 

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, no significant share of profit/(loss) from Tomtor was recognised by 
the Group.

Other investments
During year ended 31 December 2021 the Group consolidated its interests in Matenvunai and Pekinskaya LLC. In March 2021 the Group 
acquired an additional stake of 55% in Matenvunai LLC for cash consideration of $1 million, consolidating 80% of the voting rights. In April 
2021 the Group acquired an additional stake of 27.7% in Pekinskaya LLC for cash consideration of $1 million, consolidating 62.7% of voting 
rights. The Group has determined that it controls the investees from the date of state registration of the transactions described above.

During year ended 31 December 2021 the Group entered into two new joint arrangements to explore and develop several deposits in the 
Magadan and Khabarovsk regions of Russia, for total consideration of $2 million. The Group determined that these arrangements 
constitute joint ventures in accordance with IFRS 11 Joint arrangements and the investments are accounted using the equity method. 

Summarised financial position of the investments
The following table summarises the aggregate financial position of the investments on a 100% basis. The summarised financial 
information below represents amounts in the associate’s consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS, 
adjusted for fair value adjustments at acquisition and differences in accounting policies. As of 31 December 2021, consistent with as of 
31 December 2020, none of the entities held any significant cash balances and did not record any significant amounts of revenue or 
expenses, depreciation and amortisation, interest income and expenses, income tax. 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

 
 

Tomtor
$m

Non-
significant 

investments
$m

Tomtor
$m

Non-significant 
investments

$m

Non-current assets 307 10 295 4
Current assets 3 3 8 4
Non-current liabilities (91) (5) (83) (1)
Current liabilities (1) – (1) –
Net assets 218 8 220 3
Reconciliation of Tomtor net assets to the investment recognised in the 
Group balance sheet  
Group interest 9%  9%  
Net assets 218  220  
Group’s ownership interest 20  20  

Carrying value of investment 20  20  

21. Inventories
Year ended 

 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Inventories expected to be recovered after twelve months  
Ore stock piles 70 69
Consumables and spare parts 26 26

Total non-current inventories  96 95

Inventories expected to be recovered in the next twelve months  
Copper, gold and silver concentrate 182 138
Ore stock piles 221 194
Work in-process 115 115
Doré 26 15
Metal for refining 9 10

Total current metal inventories  553  472
Consumables and spare parts 228 190

Total current inventories  781  662
 

Write-downs of metal inventories to net realisable value
The Group recognised the following write-downs and reversals to net realisable value of its metal inventories: 

 Year ended

 
 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Ore stock piles  (28) (2)
Ore in heap leach piles  3 (4)

Total  (25) (6)

The key assumptions used as of 31 December 2021 in determining net realisable value of inventories (including the commodity price 
assumptions for long-term stockpiles) are described in Note 3 “Use of estimates” section. For short-term metal inventories, applicable 
quoted forward prices as of 31 December 2021 were used: gold and silver prices of $1,836 per ounce (2020: $1,906) and $23.5 per 
ounce (2020: $26.6), respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2021 the Group recognised a reversal of previous write-down of consumables and spare parts 
inventory of $1 million (year ended 31 December 2020: write-down of $8 million).

The amount of inventories held at net realisable value at 31 December 2021 is $49 million (31 December 2020: $52 million).

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

S
trateg

ic rep
o

rt
G

overnance
Financial statem

ents
A

p
p

end
ices

230 231Polymetal International plc Integrated Annual Report & Accounts 2021Polymetal International plc Integrated Annual Report & Accounts 2021



22. Accounts receivable and other financial assets
 Year ended 

 
 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Non-current accounts receivable and other financial assets   
Contingent consideration receivable 29 25
Loans provided to third parties 12 4
Other long-term assets 16 9

Total  57  38 

Trade receivables and other financial assets   
Receivables from provisional copper, gold and silver concentrate sales  44  46 
Other receivables  32  21 
Short-term contingent consideration receivable  7  3 
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts  (4)  (3)

Total trade and other receivables  79  67 
Shares held at FVTPL 5 2
Short-term loans provided 7 6

Total other short-term financial assets  12  8 

Total  91  75 

The average credit period on sales of copper, gold and silver concentrate at 31 December 2021 was 18 days (2020: 14 days). No interest 
is charged on trade receivables. The Group’s doubtful debt relates to its non-trade receivables, which are fully impaired. 

The table below sets out a summary of changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration receivable, which are classified as 
Group’s Level 3 financial assets (Note 27):

 Year ended

 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Opening balance 28 –
Additions (Note 17) 7 9
Change in fair value, included in profit or loss (Note 27) 1 19

Total contingent consideration 36 28

Less current portion of contingent consideration liability (7) (3)

Total non-current contingent consideration 29 25

The valuation process for contingent consideration liabilities and related key assumptions is described in Note 27 below. 

23. Borrowings
 Actual interest rate at 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

 
 

Type of 
rate 

31 Dec 
2021 

31 Dec 
2020 

Current
$m

Non-
current

$m
Total

$m
Current

$m

Non-
current

$m
Total

$m

Secured loans from third parties
U.S. Dollar denominated floating n/a 1.95% – – – – 200 200
U.S. Dollar denominated fixed 3.04% 4.06% 100 191 291 144 92 236

Total secured loans from 
third parties 100 191 291 144 292 436
Unsecured loans from third parties
U.S. Dollar denominated floating 1.35% 1.86% 298 378 676 80 207 287
U.S. Dollar denominated fixed 3.52% 3.91% 2 948 950 101 850 951
Euro denominated floating 0.45% n/a – 24 24 – – –
Euro denominated fixed 0.60% 2.85% 2 – 2 9 – 9
RUB denominated fixed 6.67% 5.00% 44 77 121 – 54 54

Total unsecured loans from 
third parties 346 1,427 1,773 190 1,111 1,301

Total 446 1,618 2,064 334 1,403 1,737

Bank loans
The Group has a number of borrowing arrangements with various lenders. These borrowings consist of unsecured and secured loans and 
credit facilities denominated in US Dollars. Where security is provided it is in form of a pledge of revenue from certain sales agreements.

Factoring arrangements
In 2021 the Group entered into factoring arrangements with several banks, in accordance with the agreements the bank pays the Group’s 
suppliers based on the register of approved invoices provided by the Group to the banks, which includes certain advances to suppliers 
and payments for the outstanding accounts payable. As of 31 December 2021 the outstanding balance of the factoring liability amounts 
to $48 million, which have a maturity of 90 days, mainly denominated in Russian Roubles.

The Group determined that the arrangements meet the definition of the borrowings and are presented as loans in the table above. As no 
cash inflow and cash outflow occur for the Group when an invoice is paid by the banks, the Group does not present those cash flows in 
its statement of cash flows and presents them as a non-cash transaction (Note 33). Financing cash outflows are recorded by the Group 
when the Group pays the bank directly.

Movements in borrowings are presented in Note 33.

At 31 December 2021, the Group had undrawn borrowing facilities of $2,254 million (31 December 2020: $2,281 million), of which 
$1,354 million are considered committed1 (31 December 2020: $1,392 million). The Group complied with its debt covenants throughout 
2021 and 2020. 

1 As at 1 March 2022, $0.8 billion of committed facilities are available to be drawn down because $0.5bn was from banks who are now on the SDN list.

The table below summarises maturities of borrowings: 
 Year ended 

 
 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Year ended, 31 December 2021  –  334 
31 December 2022  446  195 
31 December 2023  177  255 
31 December 2024  372  334 
31 December 2025  220  50 
31 December 2026  390  164 
31 December 2027  170  133 
31 December 2028  139  133 
31 December 2029  139  133 
31 December 2030  8  6 
31 December 2031  3  – 
31 December 2032  2  – 

Total  2,064  1,737 
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24. Environmental obligations
 Year ended 

 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Opening balance  44  57 
Change in estimate of environmental obligations (Note 11)  2  (3)
Decommissioning liabilities recognised as increase in Property plant and equipment (Note 17)  3  (2)
Rehabilitation expenses (Note 6)  2  (1)
Effect of unwinding of discount (Note 14)  4  3 
Translation effect  (1)  (10)

Closing balance  54  44 

Less current portion of environmental obligations (Note 25)  (4)  – 

Total non-current environmental obligation  50  44 

The principal assumptions are related to Russian Rouble and Kazakh Tenge projected cash flows. The assumptions used for the 
estimation of environmental obligations were as follows:

2021 2020

Discount rates 8.18% – 10.03% 5.19% – 6.96%
Inflation rates 2.4% – 8% 2.6% – 6.9%
Expected mine closure dates 1 – 30 years 3 – 29 years

The Group does not hold any assets that are legally restricted for purposes of settling environmental obligations.

The discount rates applied are based on the applicable government bond rates in Russia and Kazakhstan. The expected mine closure 
dates are consistent with life of mine models and applicable mining licence requirements.

25. Payables and accrued liabilities
Year ended 

 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Non-current liabilities   
Long-term royalties payable  16  – 
Other non-current liabilities  2  3 

Total  18  3 

Current liabilities   
Trade payables  121  90 
Accrued liabilities  50  45 
Short-term royalties payable  5  – 
Current portion of environmental obligations (Note 24)  4  – 
Labour liabilities  17  14 
Provision for investment in Special Economic Zone (Note 11)  19  18 
Other payables  7  13 

Total  223  180 

During year ended 31 December 2021 the Group entered into royalty arrangement with Maverix Metal Inc (Maverix) selling two perpetual 
payments (royalties) for total consideration of $20 million. The Group’s financial liability that originated represents a royalty payable, which 
results in future payments that may significantly vary over time depending on future production and sales. Such royalty represents a 
financial liability contract with an embedded derivative and is designated by the Group as at FVTPL on initial recognition and 
subsequently (Note 2).

Movements in royalty payable are presented in Note 33.

In 2021 the average credit period for payables was 30 days (2020: 30 days). There was no interest charged on the outstanding trade and 
other payables balance during the credit period. The Group has financial risk management policies in place, which include budgeting and 
analysis of cash flows and payment schedules to ensure that all amounts payable are settled within the credit period.

26. Commitments and contingencies
Commitments
Capital commitments
The Group’s contractual expenditure commitments as of 31 December 2021 amounted to $270 million (2020: $250 million).

Nezhda power line
In June 2020, the Group entered into a preliminary lease agreement to lease on pre-agreed terms the single-circuit 110 kV grid power 
line running from Khandyga to the Nezhda production site and the related substation. The power line will be built, owned and operated by 
UVES, an independent grid management company with completion and the commencement date of the lease scheduled for the second 
quarter of 2022. 

The total expected amount of the Group’s lease commitments is estimated at $151 million (undiscounted), including variable lease 
payments, representing reimbursement of maintenance costs of $34 million, which will be expensed as incurred.

Albazino power line
In December 2021, the Group entered into a preliminary lease agreement to lease on pre-agreed terms the single-circuit 110 kV 
grid power line that is planned to run, once constructed, from Gorin, 590 km north from Khabarovsk, to the Albazino production site. 
The power line will be built, owned and operated by AEK LLC, an independent grid management company with completion and the 
commencement date of the lease scheduled for the 2024 year. 

The construction will be funded by the Sberbank 8-year senior loan and Sberbank Investment’s 8-year subordinated loan facility. 
Polymetal will provide guarantees to Sberbank in connection to the senior loan and lease payments to AEK.

The Group has determined that there are no indicators of control over the project entity, as it neither has the power to direct activities that 
significantly affect the entity’s return, nor does it have the exposure or rights to the variable returns of the project entity, as the Group 
does not bear risk of capital expenditure overruns. 

The preliminary lease agreement is subject to IFRS 16 Leases accounting requirements, as the overhead power line is an identified asset 
with no substantive substitution rights, while how and for what purposes it will be used is predetermined by the nature of the asset and due 
to its location. The Group is likely to have the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset throughout the 
period of use. The right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liability are to be recognised at the commencement date.

The Group has determined that the guarantee in substance represents a mechanisms of conditional acceleration of Polymetal’s lease 
payments in cases of default and should be accounted for as a single contract with the lease agreement under IFRS 16, therefore not 
requiring separate valuation and accounting.

The total expected amount of lease commitments is estimated at $235 million (undiscounted), including variable lease payments, 
representing reimbursement of maintenance costs of $55 million, which will be expensed as incurred.

Social and infrastructure commitments
In accordance with a memorandum with East-Kazakhstan Oblast Administration (local Kazakhstan government) the Group participates 
in financing of certain social and infrastructure development project of the region. During the year ended 31 December 2021 the Group 
paid $5 million (2020: $5 million) under this programme and the total social expense commitment as of 31 December 2021 amounts to 
$7 million (2020: $12 million), payable in equal instalments up to 2023.

Forward sale commitments
The Group has certain physical gold and silver forward sale commitments which are priced at the prevailing market price, calculated with 
reference to the LBMA or LME gold and silver price, which are accounted for as executory contracts as the Group expects to, and has 
historically, physically delivered into these contracts.

Contingent liabilities
Taxation
Russian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations, and changes, which can occur frequently. 
Management’s interpretation of such legislation as applied to the transaction and activity of the companies of the Group may be 
challenged by the relevant regional and federal authorities and as a result, significant additional taxes, penalties and interest may be 
assessed. Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in respect of taxes for three calendar years preceding the year of 
review. Under certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods.

Management has identified a total exposure (covering taxes and related interest and penalties) of $158 million in respect of contingent 
liabilities (2020: $157 million), mainly related to income tax as described in Note 15.
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27. Financial instruments
Major categories of financial instruments

 Year ended 

 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Financial assets   
Financial assets at FVTPL   
Receivables from provisional copper, gold and silver concentrate sales (Note 22)  44  46 
Contingent consideration receivable (Note 22)  36  28 
Shares held at FVTPL (Note 22)  5  2 
Financial assets at amortised cost, including cash and cash equivalents   
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 33)  417  386 
Other receivables (Note 22)  35  24 
Non-current loans and receivables (Note 22)  12  4 

Total financial assets  549  490 

Financial liabilities   
Financial liabilities at FVTPL   
Contingent consideration liability (Note 33)  63  87 
Royalty payable (Note 25, 33)  21  – 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost   
Borrowings (Note 23)  2,064  1,737 
Deferred consideration (Note 33)  79  74 
Trade and other payables (Note 25)  147  121 

Total financial liabilities  2,374  2,019 

The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise borrowings, derivatives, trade and other payables. The Group has various financial 
assets such as accounts receivable, loans advanced and cash and cash equivalents.

Trade and other payables exclude employee benefits and social security.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign currency and commodity price risk, interest rate, credit and 
liquidity risks.

At the end of the reporting period, there are no significant concentrations of credit risk for receivables at FVTPL. The carrying amount 
reflected above represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for such receivables.

Presented below is a summary of the Group’s accounts receivable with embedded derivative recorded on the consolidated balance 
sheet at fair value.

As of 31 December 2021, accounts receivable with embedded derivatives recognised at fair value amounted to $44 million (31 December 
2020: $46 million) and represented receivables from provisional metal concentrate sales. In 2021 gain recognised on revaluation of these 
instruments approximates to nil (2020: $1 million) and is recorded within revenue.

Fair value of financial instruments
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped 
into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable as follows:

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based 
on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

At 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group held the following financial instruments:
 

31 December 2021

Level 1
$m

Level 2
$m

Level 3
$m

Total
$m

Receivables from provisional copper, gold and silver concentrate sales 
(Note 22) – 44 – 44
Contingent consideration receivable (Note 22) – – 29 29
Shares held at FVTPL (Note 22) 5 – – 5
Royalty liabilities payable (Note 25) (21) (21)
Contingent consideration liability (Note 33) – – (63) (63)

Total 5 44 (55) (6)

 31 December 2020

 
 

Level 1
$m

Level 2
$m

Level 3
$m

Total
$m

Receivables from provisional copper, gold and silver concentrate sales 
(Note 22)  –  46  –  46 
Contingent consideration receivable (Note 22)  –  –  25  25 
Shares held at FVTPL (Note 22)  2  –  –  2 
Contingent consideration liability (Note 33)  –  –  (87)  (87)

Total  2  46  (62)  (14)

During the reporting year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2.

The Group recognised the following gains and loss from revaluation of its Level 3 financial instruments:
 Year ended 

 
 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Gain on revaluation of contingent consideration receivable  1  19 
Gain/(loss) on revaluation of contingent consideration payable 4 (42)
Loss on revaluation of royalty payable  (1)  – 

Total  4  (23)

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and short-term debt recorded at 
amortised cost approximate to their fair values because of the short maturities of these instruments. The estimated fair value of the Group’s 
debt, calculated using the market interest rate available to the Group as of 31 December 2021, is $1,849 million (2020: $1,546 million), and 
the carrying value as of 31 December 2021 is $2,064 million (2020: $1,737 million) (see Note 23). 

Receivables from provisional copper, gold and silver concentrate sales
The fair value of receivables arising from copper, gold and silver concentrate sales contracts that contain provisional pricing mechanisms 
is determined using the appropriate quoted forward price from the exchange that is the principal active market for the particular metal. 
As such, these receivables are classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

A summary of changes in the fair value of the Group’s Level 3 financial assets and liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2020 are 
detailed in Notes 22 and 27, respectively.
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27. Financial instruments continued
Valuation methodologies used in the measurement of fair value for Level 3 financial assets 
and financial liabilities
The main level 3 inputs used by the Group in measuring the fair value of contingent consideration assets and liabilities, represented by 
various royalties and net smelter returns (NSR), are derived and evaluated as follows:

• The relevant valuation model simulates expected production of metals at respective mines and are based on life of mine models 
prepared using applicable ore reserves and mineral resource estimations;

• Commodity prices – Commodity prices are based on latest internal forecasts, benchmarked against external sources of information. 
The prices applied are consistent with those described in Note 3.

• Discount rates – The Group used a post-tax real discount rate of 8.0% (2020: 9.0%). For the Monte-Carlo modelling, where inflation 
is incorporated into volatility estimation, a nominal discount rate of 10.7% (2020: 11.7%) is applied. 

• Where the percentage of net NSR or royalty receivable or payable depends on commodity prices or foreign exchange rates reaching 
certain levels, the Group applies the Monte-Carlo modelling to incorporate the volatility measure into the valuation, which is applied 
to the prevailing market prices/rates as of the valuation date. The Monte-Carlo modelling is applied to Komar and Prognoz (NSR) 
contingent considerations payable and all contingent considerations receivable.

The key assumptions used in the Monte-Carlo calculations are set out below:

Price as of valuation date per 
ounce/tonne, $US

Average gold price/ounce for 
preceding quarter as of 

valuation date, $US Volatility, %
Constant correlation to gold, 

%

Gold 1,820 1,795 13.29% – 16.32% n/a
Silver 23.085 23 26.4% – 32.5% 83.74%
Copper 9,692 n/a 20.91% 53.22%
Zinc 3,630 n/a 22.73% 23.33%
RUB rate 74.2926 n/a 12.14% – 13.41% 65.15% – 65.79%

The Directors consider that a reasonably possible change in a valuation assumption would not have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements for contingent considerations receivables and payable.

28. Risk management activities
Capital management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return 
to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy is to provide value to stakeholders 
by maintaining an optimal short-term and long-term capital structure, reducing cost of capital, and to safeguard the ability to support the 
operating requirements on an ongoing basis, continuing the exploration and development activities.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (borrowings as detailed in Note 23 offset by cash and cash equivalents and bank 
balances as detailed in Note 33) and equity of the Group comprising the Stated Capital account, reserves and retained earnings.

The Group’s committed borrowings are subject to certain financial covenants. Compliance with covenants is reviewed on a semi-annual 
basis and the Group’s Board is satisfied with forecast compliance with covenants on those borrowings. 

The Group’s Board reviews the capital structure of the Group on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the Board considers the cost 
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.

Foreign currency and commodity price risk
In the normal course of business the Group enters into transactions for the sale of its commodities, denominated in US Dollars. In addition, 
the Group has assets and liabilities in a number of different currencies (primarily Russian Rouble and Kazakh Tenge). As a result, the Group 
is subject to transaction and translation exposure from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.

The Group does not currently use derivative instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amounts of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies other than functional currencies of the 
individual Group entities at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 were as follows:

 Assets  Liabilities

 
31 December 2021

$m
31 December 2020

$m
31 December 2021

$m
31 December 2020

$m

US Dollar  391 435 498 575
Euro  –  –  12  13 

Total 391 435 510 588

US Dollar denominated assets and liabilities disclosed above exclude balances outstanding held in Polymetal International plc and its 
intermediate holding companies, where the functional currency is US Dollar ($) as described in Note 2.

Currency risk is monitored on a monthly basis by performing a sensitivity analysis of foreign currency positions in order to verify that 
potential losses are at an acceptable level.

The table below details the Group’s sensitivity to changes in exchange rates by 10% which is the sensitivity rate used by the Group for 
internal analysis. The analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of 
the loans is in a currency other than of the lender or the borrower. 

 Year ended 

 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Profit or loss   
RUB to U.S. Dollar  3  33 
KZT to U.S. Dollar  (13)  (47)
Other comprehensive income or loss   
RUB to U.S. Dollar  37  36 
KZT to U.S. Dollar  (37)  (36)

Provisionally priced sales
Under a long-established practice prevalent in the industry, copper, gold and silver concentrate sales are provisionally priced at the time 
of shipment. The provisional prices are finalised in a contractually specified future period (generally one to three months) primarily based 
on quoted LBMA or LME prices. Sales subject to final pricing are generally settled in a subsequent month. 

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk because entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating interest rates. The risk is 
managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings. The Group does not currently 
hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.

The Group’s exposure to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk section of this note.

For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period 
was outstanding for the whole period. A 100 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key 
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year ended 
31 December 2021 would have decreased/increased by $4 million (2020: $4 million). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure 
to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings.
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28. Risk management activities continued
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a customer may default or not meet its obligations to the Group on a timely basis, leading to financial losses to 
the Group. The Group’s financial instruments that are potentially exposed to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash and 
cash equivalents and loans and receivables.

Trade accounts receivable at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are represented by provisional copper, gold and silver 
concentrate sales transactions. A significant portion of the Group’s trade accounts receivable is due from reputable export trading 
companies. With regard to other loans and receivables the procedures of accepting a new customer include checks by a security 
department and responsible on-site management for business reputation, licences and certification, creditworthiness and liquidity. 
Generally, the Group does not require any collateral to be pledged in connection with its investments in the above financial instruments. 
Credit limits for the Group as a whole are not set up.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies. The major financial assets at the balance sheet date other than trade accounts receivable presented in Note 33 are cash 
and cash equivalents at 31 December 2021 of $417 million (2020: $386 million).

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to settle its liabilities as they fall due.

The Group’s liquidity position is carefully monitored and managed. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining detailed budgeting, 
cash forecasting processes and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities to help ensure that it has adequate cash 
available to meet its payment obligations.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities with agreed repayment periods. The table has 
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to 
pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is 
derived from interest rate curves at the end of the reporting period. The contractual maturity is based on the earliest date on which the 
Group may be required to pay.

Presented below is the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020: 

 31 December 2021

 
 

Less than
3 months

$m
3–12 months

$m
1–5 years

$m

More than
5 years

 $m 
Total

$m

Borrowings (Note 23) 308 194 1,301 491 2,294
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (Note 25) 137 10 – – 147
Contingent consideration liabilities (Note 27, 33) 9 23 112 17 161
Royalty payable (Note 25) 1 4 18 4 27
Lease liabilities (Note 18) 2 5 28 14 49

Total 457 236 1,459 526 2,678

 31 December 2020

 
 
 

Less than
3 months

$m

3–12 months
 

$m
1–5 years

$m

More than
5 years

 $m 
Total

$m

Borrowings (Note 23) 154 237 896 692 1,979
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (Note 25) 119 2 – – 121
Contingent consideration liabilities (Note 33) 9 32 122 43 206
Lease liabilities (Note 18) 2 5 23 19 49

Total 284 276 1,041 754 2,355

29. Stated capital account and retained earnings
As of 31 December 2021, the Company’s issued share capital consisted of 473,626,239 ordinary shares (2020: 471,818,000 ordinary 
shares) of no par value, each carrying one vote. The Company does not hold any shares in treasury (2020: none). The ordinary shares 
reflect 100% of the total issued share capital of the Company.

The movements in the Stated Capital account in the year were as follows:

 

Stated capital 
account

no. of shares

Stated capital 
account

$m

Balance at 31 December 2019 470,188,201 2,424 

Issue of shares in accordance with DSA and LTIP plans 1,629,799 10

Balance at 31 December 2020 471,818,000 2,434 

Issue of shares in accordance with DSA and LTIP plans  1,808,239  16 

Balance at 31 December 2021 473,626,239 2,450 

Reserves available for distribution to shareholders are based on the available cash in the Company under Jersey law. The Group has 
unremitted accumulated retained earnings based on local accounting standards of approximately $3.7 billion (2020: $3.2 billion), which if 
remitted without restrictions would fund the Group’s anticipated dividends for a number of years, after allowing for related tax payments. 
The directors believe that the Company therefore has access to cash to fund the Group’s anticipated dividends for a number of years.

Weighted average number of shares: Diluted earnings per share
Both basic and diluted earnings per share were calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent by the 
weighted average number of outstanding common shares before/after dilution respectively. The calculation of the weighted average 
number of outstanding common shares after dilution is as follows:

 Year ended 

31 December 
2021

 31 December 
2020

Weighted average number of outstanding common shares 473,048,821 471,278,987 
Dilutive effect of share appreciation plan 6,809,043 6,708,642 

Weighted average number of outstanding common shares after dilution 479,857,864 477,987,629 

There were no adjustments required to earnings for the purposes of calculating the diluted earnings per share during the year ended 
31 December 2021 (year ended 31 December 2020: nil). 

At 31 December 2021 the outstanding LTIP awards issued under 2019–2021 tranches represent dilutive potential ordinary shares with 
respect to earnings per share from continuing operations as these are in the money as of reporting date (31 December 2020: the 
outstanding LTIP awards issued under all outstanding tranches represent dilutive potential ordinary shares).

The awards issued under management bonus deferral award plan are dilutive as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 being 
contingently issued shares and are included in the calculation of diluted EPS based on the weighted average number of shares that would 
be issuable if the end of the reporting period were the end of the contingency period.
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30. Share-based payments
For the year ended 31 December 2021, share-based compensation in the amount of $16 million including $2 million of management 
bonus deferral award (2020: $15 million and $2 million, respectively) was recognised in general, administrative and selling expenses in 
the consolidated income statement (Note 10). As of 31 December 2021 total accumulated share-based compensation reserve amounts 
to $31 million (2020: $31 million) with movements presented in statement of changes in equity.

As of the reporting date the unrecognised share-based compensation expense related to non-vested equity-settled stock appreciated 
rights is detailed as follows:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

 
 

Number of 
option 

granted
shares

Expected 
amortisation 

period
years

Unrecognised 
share-based 

compensation 
expense 

$m

Expected 
amortisation 

period
years

Unrecognised 
share-based 

compensation 
expense 

$m

Tranche 2017  2,070,002  – –  0.3  1 
Tranche 2018  2,549,754  0.3  1  1.3  3 
Tranche 2019  2,831,753  1.3  4  2.3  7 
Tranche 2020  2,497,292  2.3  14  3.3  20 
Tranche 2021  1,732,722 3.3 12  –  – 

Total    31   31 

During the year ended 31 December 2021 total amount of 1,808,239 shares were released and issued in accordance with management 
bonus plan deferral award and the long-term incentive plan (2020: 1,629,799 shares in accordance with management bonus plan deferral 
award and the long-term incentive plan). The assumptions used in the calculation and fair value of one award, calculated based on those 
assumptions, are set in the table below:

 Tranche 2017 Tranche 2018 Tranche 2019 Tranche 2020 Tranche 2021

Risk free rate 1.60% 2.49% 2.32% 0.35% 0.61%
Expected volatility 41.65% 34.03% 33.87% 35.59% 35.36%
Constant correlation 34.49% 33.70% 39.54% 44.31% 40.78%
Expected life, years  4  4  4  4  4 
Share price at the date of grant (USD)  13.3 10.2  11.0  20.6  19.8 
Fair value of one award (USD)  6.9  4.0  4.3  9.4  7.1 

Dividend yield is not incorporated into the calculation of the fair value of the awards, as Dividend equivalents will be received on vested 
shares, reflecting the value of dividends, which have been paid during the period from the grant date to the vesting date.

31. Related parties
Related parties are considered to include shareholders, affiliates, associates, joint ventures and entities under common ownership 
and control with the Group and members of key management personnel. 

During the period ended 31 December 2021 transactions with the related parties are represented by miscellaneous purchases 
of $1.4 million (period ended 31 December 2020: $0.1 million) and various sales to the related parties of $0.7 million (period ended 
31 December 2020: $0.5 million).

Outstanding balances with related parties as of 31 December 2021 are represented by accounts receivable of $0.3 million 
(31 December 2020: $1.0 million). 

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel during the periods was as follows:

Year ended 

 
 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Share-based payments 2 2
Short-term benefits of board members 2 2
Short-term employee benefits 3 3

Total 7 7

32. Restatement
The following tables summarise the restatements made to the comparative consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of 
other comprehensive income, the consolidated balance and consolidated statement of cash flows as a result of a voluntary change in 
accounting policy for exploration and evaluation assets (Note 1). There was no effect on the basic and diluted earnings per share for the 
comparative period.

Adjustments to the consolidated balance sheet

 
 

1 January 
2020

$m

Adjustment for 
change in 

accounting 
policy

$m

1 January 
2020 (restated)

$m

Property, plant and equipment  2,810  (27)  2,783
Deferred tax liability  (196)  4  (192)

Equity shareholders of the Parent  1,951  (23)  1,928 

Translation reserve  (1,302)  8  (1,294)

Decrease in retained earnings   (31)  

 

 

31 December 
2020

$m

Adjustment for 
change in 

accounting 
policy

$m

31 December 
2020 (restated)

$m

Property, plant and equipment  2,787  (49)  2,738 
Deferred tax liability  (209)  7  (202)

Equity shareholders of the Parent  2,002  (42)  1,960 

Translation reserve  (1,832)  9  (1,823)

Decrease in retained earnings   (51)
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32. Restatement continued
Adjustments to the consolidated income statement

 Year ended

 
 

31 December 
2020

$m

Adjustment for 
change in 

accounting 
policy

$m

31 December 
2020 (restated)

$m

Other operating expenses, net  (99)  (25)  (124)
Income tax expense  (319)  5  (314)

Decrease profit for the financial period   (20) 
 

Adjustments to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income
 Year ended

 
 

31 December 
2020

$m

Adjustment for 
change in 

accounting 
policy

$m

31 December 
2020 (restated)

$m

Profit for the period  1,086  (20)  1,066 
Translation reserve  (533)  (1)  (532)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period  553  (21)  534 

Adjustments to the consolidated statements of cash flows
Year ended

 
 

31 December 
2020

$m

Adjustment for 
change in 

accounting 
policy

$m

31 December 
2020 (restated)

$m

    
Profit before income tax  1,405  (25)  1,380 

Net cash generated by operating activities  1,192  (25)  1,167 

33. Supplementary cash flow information

 
 Note

Year ended 
31 December 

2021
$m

Year ended 
31 December 

2020
(restated)1

$m

Profit before tax  1,161 1,380
Adjustments for:    

Depreciation and depletion recognised in the statement of comprehensive income  214 207
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 21 24 14
Share-based compensation 10, 30 16 15
Finance expenses, net 14 59 67
Change in fair value of financial instruments 27 (4) 23
Foreign exchange gain  (5) (23)
Reversal of previously recognised impairment  – (8)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net 17 (3) (13)
Other non-cash expenses  10 7

  1,472 1,669
Movements in working capital    

Increase in inventories  (123) (127)
Decrease/(Increase) in VAT receivable  3 (26)
Increase in trade and other receivables  (3) (26)
Increase in prepayments to suppliers  (22) (43)
Increase in trade and other payables  1 34
Increase in prepayments received  127 –
Increase in other taxes payable  20 28

Cash generated from operations  1,475 1,509
Interest paid  (60) (71)
Interest received  6 4
Income tax paid  (226) (275)

Net cash generated by operating activities  1,195 1,167

1 Restated following a voluntary change in accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures. As a result deferred profit before tax, other non-cash 
expenses and the corresponding resulting total line items were restated. Refer to Note 1 and Note 32.

In 2021 significant non-cash transactions include factoring arrangements as described in Note 23 (2020: nil) and share-based 
compensation of $16 million (Note 30) (2020: share-based compensation of $15 million). 

Cash outflows related to exploration amounted to $12 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: $9 million). During the year 
ended 31 December 2021, the capital expenditure related to the new projects, increasing the Group’s operating capacity amounts to 
$556 million (2020: $252 million).

Cash and cash equivalents

 

31 December 
2021

$m

31 December 
2020

$m

Bank deposits – USD  224  180 
– other currencies  58  8 

Current bank accounts – USD  131  193 
– other currencies  4  5 

Total  417  386 

Bank deposits as of 31 December 2021 are mainly presented by the US Dollar deposits, bearing an average interest rate of 0.2% per 
annum (2020: US Dollar deposits, bearing an average interest rate of 0.39% per annum).

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

S
trateg

ic rep
o

rt
G

overnance
Financial statem

ents
A

p
p

end
ices

244 245Polymetal International plc Integrated Annual Report & Accounts 2021Polymetal International plc Integrated Annual Report & Accounts 2021



33. Supplementary cash flow information continued
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. 
Liabilities from financing activities are those for which cash flow were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated 
cash flow statements as cash flows from financing activities.

 Year ended 31 December 2021

 Borrowings

Contingent 
consideration 
payable at fair 

value

Deferred 
consideration 

payable at 
amortised 

cost
Royalty 
payable

Lease 
liabilities

1 January  1,737  87  74  –  33 
Cash inflow  3,360  –  –  20  – 
Cash outlow  (3,080)  (33)  – –  (7)

Changes from financing cash flows  280  (33)  –  20  (7)
Additions as a result of acquisitions  –  10  –  –  – 
Factoring arrangement (Note 23)  48  –  –  –  – 
Change in fair value, included in profit or loss  –  (4)  –  1  – 
Unwind of discount  –  3  5  –  3 
Arrangement fee amortisation  –  –  –  –  – 
New leases –  –  –  –  9 
Lease termination –  –  –  –  (3)
Net foreign exchange losses  6  –  –  –  – 
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations  (7)  –  –  –  1 

Other non-cash changes  47  9  5  1  10 

31 December  2,064  63  79  21  36 

Less current portion  (446)  (31)  –  (5)  (7)

Total non-current liabilities at 31 December  1,618  32  79  16  29 

 
31 December 2020

 Borrowings

Contingent 
consideration 
payable at fair 

value

Deferred 
consideration 

payable at 
amortised cost Lease liabilities

1 January  1,732  66  –  32 
Cash inflow  2,369  –  –  – 
Cash outlow  (2,366)  (23)  –  (6)

Changes from financing cash flows  3  (23)  –  (6)
Additions as a result of acquisitions  –  –  71  – 
Change in fair value, included in profit or loss  –  42  – 
Unwind of discount  –  2  3  3 
Arrangement fee amortisation  2  –  –  – 
New leases  –  –  –  16 
Lease termination  –  –  –  (4)
Net foreign exchange losses  86  –  –  – 
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations  (86)  –  –  (8)

Other non-cash changes  2  44  74  7 

31 December  1,737  87  74  33 

Less current portion  (334)  (41)  –  (6)

Total non-current liabilities  1,403  46  74  27 

34. Subsequent events
Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the rapid and significant developments related to the conflict in Ukraine has led to additional and 
more severe sanctions imposed by the US, UK, EU and other countries on certain Russian institutions and individuals. These developments 
may result in reduced access for Russian businesses to international capital and export markets, weakening of the Russian Rouble, decline 
in capitals markets and other negative economic consequences. 

The full impact of sanctions and consequent political and economic developments in Russia on future operations and the financial 
position of the Group is difficult to determine at this stage, however the Group believes that the level of political risk has increased 
considerably as of the date of this report. 

Polymetal believes that targeted sanctions on the company remain unlikely, but cannot be ruled out. Contingency planning has been 
initiated proactively to ensure business continuity, including selection of key equipment suppliers, liquidity management, debt portfolio 
diversification and securing metal sales channels. The Directors have assessed the going concern related impacts for the Group of the 
currently imposed, and possible further new sanctions, on Russia as at the date of this report.
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